

Universidade de Aveiro Departamento de Biologia Ano 2019

Daniela Fonseca Costa Rebelo

Effects of the acute and chronic exposures to simvastatin and clofibric acid in *Danio rerio*

Efeitos das exposições aguda e crónica a sinvastatina e ácido clofíbrico em *Danio rerio*

Declaração

Declaro que este relatório é integralmente da minha autoria, estando devidamente referenciadas as fontes e obras consultadas, bem como identificadas de modo claro as citações dessas obras. Não contém, por isso, qualquer tipo de plágio quer de textos publicados, qualquer que seja o meio dessa publicação, incluindo meios eletrónicos, quer de trabalhos académicos.



Universidade de Aveiro	Departamento de Biologia
Ano 2019	

Daniela Fonseca Costa Rebelo

Effects of the acute and chronic exposures to simvastatin and clofibric acid in *Danio rerio*

Efeitos das exposições aguda e crónica a sinvastatina e ácido clofíbrico em *Danio rerio*

Dissertação apresentada à Universidade de Aveiro para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Mestre em Biologia Marinha, realizada sob a orientação científica do Doutor Bruno André Fernandes de Jesus da Silva Nunes, Equiparado a Investigador Auxiliar do Centro de Estudos do Ambiente e do Mar (CESAM) da Universidade de Aveiro, e coorientação do Prof. Doutor Alberto Teodorico Rodrigues Moura Correia, Professor Auxiliar da Faculdade de Ciências da Saúde da Universidade Fernando Pessoa e Investigador do Centro Interdisciplinar de Investigação Marinha e Ambiental (CIIMAR).

This work was partially supported by Strategic Funding UID/Multi/04423/2019 through national funds provided by FCT and European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), in the framework of the programme PT2020. Thanks are due to ECO-Rpharmplast - Ecotoxicity of realistic combinations of pharmaceutical drugs and microplastics in marine ecosystems, Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, FCT (reference POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029203). Thanks are also due for the financial support to CESAM (UID/AMB/50017/2019), to FCT/M EC through national funds, and the co-funding by the FEDER, within the PT2020 Partnership Agreement and Compete 2020.

o júri

presidente	Doutora Ana Isabel Lillebo Batista Diretora do Mestrado em Biologia Marinha Aplicada Investigadora Principal, Departamento de Biologia, Centro de Estudos do Ambiente e do Mar (CESAM), Universidade de Aveiro				
arguente	Doutora Sara Raquel Boaventura Rodrigues Investigadora, Centro Interdisciplinar de Investigação Marinha e Ambiental (CIIMAR)				
orientador	Doutor Bruno André Fernandes de Jesus da Silva Nunes Equiparado a Investigador Auxiliar, Departamento de Biologia, Centro de Estudos do Ambiente e do Mar (CESAM), Universidade de Aveiro				

agradecimentos

Em primeiro lugar, quero agradecer ao meu orientador, Doutor Bruno Nunes, por me convidar a ser sua aluna de mestrado, incluindo também o meu coorientador Doutor Alberto Teodorico Correia, por todo o apoio que ambos me deram ao longo deste trabalho.

À Doutora Céu Costa, pelo auxílio na realização das técnicas histológicas realizadas na Universidade Fernando Pessoa.

Agradeço também a todas as pessoas que me ajudaram no trabalho laboratorial, incluindo a Rita Almeida, que me ensinou todos os procedimentos com peixe-zebra, à Mayara Soares que esteve sempre presente quando tinha alguma dúvida, e a todos os membros da equipa, orientados também pelo Doutor Bruno Nunes, por toda a disponibilidade para o esclarecimento de novas questões que iriam surgindo.

À minha mãe e ao meu namorado, agradeço todo o apoio e compreensão durante todo o período de execução desta dissertação.

Ao meu pai, que espero que sempre tenha orgulho em mim e me acompanhe em todas as fases importantes da minha vida.

palavras-chave

Peixes; antihiperlipidémicos; disruptores endócrinos; biomarcadores; histologia; peixezebra

resumo

Os antihiperlipidémicos são dos fármacos mais prescritos no mundo para o controlo dos níveis de colesterol, a mais de 20 milhões de pacientes. Devido ao seu amplo uso, os fármacos podem ser descartados, metabolizados e excretados no ambiente, potencialmente afetando organismos aquáticos. Apesar desta ampla utilização de antihiperlipidémicos, particularmente a sinvastatina e o ácido clofíbrico, os seus potenciais efeitos toxicológicos ao nível ambiental não estão totalmente caracterizados e compreendidos, sendo assim necessário investigá-los. Portanto, surge uma nova preocupação quanto ao seu potencial impacto ambiental, particularmente no ambiente aquático. Este trabalho visa caracterizar a toxicidade decorrente da exposição aguda (120 horas pós-fertilização) e crónica (60 dias) a drogas antihiperlipidémicas, nomeadamente sinvastatina (92.45, 184.9, 369.8, 739.6 e 1479.2 ng L⁻¹) e ácido clofíbrico (10.35, 20.7, 41.4, 82.8 e 165.6 µg L⁻¹), na espécie de peixe de água doce peixe-zebra (Danio rerio). As concentrações selecionadas foram implementadas em ambas as exposições. A análise dos efeitos incidiu sobre a observação histológica de tecidos dos indivíduos, no que diz respeito à determinação do sexo e dos estádios de maturação das gónadas, comportamento (movimentos curtos e longos, tempo de natação e distância total de natação), e biomarcadores de stress oxidativo (superóxido dismutase, catalase e glutationa peroxidase), biotransformação (glutationa Stransferases) e peroxidação lipídica (substâncias reativas ao ácido tiobarbitúrico). No caso da exposição aguda, foram observadas alterações de comportamento em animais expostos a ambos os compostos, sendo que a sinvastatina originou hiperatividade e o ácido clofíbrico provocou hipoatividade em todos os parâmetros comportamentais. Para além disso, foi observada a inibição significativa em todos os biomarcadores em indivíduos expostos a sinvastatina em concentrações de 184.9 a 1479.2 ng L⁻¹, exceto na catalase, parâmetro para o qual não foram reportadas diferenças significativas. A atividade da glutationa peroxidase selénio dependente também aumentou significativamente para níveis de 92.45 ng L⁻¹. Por outro lado, em indivíduos expostos a ácido clofíbrico, houve um aumento significativo em todos os biomarcadores, geralmente em peixes expostos a concentrações de 41.4 a 165.6 µg L⁻¹. No entanto, no caso da catalase e das glutationa S-transferases, na concentração mais elevada, a atividade diminuiu significativamente. Este estudo sugere que as exposições crónicas de Danio rerio a sinvastatina e ácido clofíbrico não interferem na proporção de sexo e nos estádios de maturação dos indivíduos. Como as defesas antioxidantes são importantes relativamente à capacidade do organismo no combate ao stress oxidativo, juntamente com efeitos a nível da locomoção, podem afetar o metabolismo ou até mesmo a sobrevivência dos organismos. Assim, terão de ser investigados o modo de ação destes dois compostos, incluindo os efeitos ao nível da disrupção reprodutiva em exposições mais prolongadas, de forma a observar e caracterizar os efeitos a longoprazo da sinvastatina e do ácido clofíbrico no compartimento aquático e nos seus organismos.

keywords

abstract

Fish; antihyperlipidemic; reproductive disruptors; biomarkers; histology; zebrafish

Lipid-regulating drugs are one of the most prescribed medications around the world, to control human cholesterol levels, to more than 20 million patients. Due to their wide usage, pharmaceuticals can be discarded, metabolized and excreted into the environment, potentially affecting aquatic organisms. Despite this increasing use of lipid-regulating drugs, particularly simvastatin and clofibric acid, are not fully characterized and understood in terms of their potential toxicological effects at the environmental level, therefore being necessary to investigate them. Therefore, it emerges a new concern on their effects related to the potential environmental impact, particularly in the aquatic environment. This work intended to characterize the toxicity due to an acute (120 hours post-fertilization) and chronical (60 days) exposure to antihyperlipidemic drugs, namely simvastatin (92.45, 184.9, 369.8, 739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹) and clofibric acid (10.35, 20.7, 41.4, 82.8 and 165.6 μ g L⁻¹), in the freshwater species of zebrafish (Danio rerio). The concentrations hereby selected were implemented in both exposures. The analysis of effects focused on the histological observation of tissues in individuals, concerning sex determination and maturation stages of gonads, behavior (small and large distance, total distance and swimming time), biomarkers of oxidative stress (superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase), biotransformation (glutathione S-transferases) and lipid peroxidation (thiobarbituric acid reactive substances). In terms of acute exposure, it was observed behavioral alterations in both compounds, simvastatin caused hyperactivity and clofibric acid provoked hypoactivity in all behavioral parameters. Moreover, it was observed a significant decrease in all biomarkers in individuals exposed to simvastatin from 184.9 to 1479.2 ng L⁻¹, except for catalase, for which no significant differences were found. Glutathione peroxidase selenium-dependent activity also showed a significant increase at 92.45 ng L⁻¹. On the other hand, in individuals exposed to clofibric acid, there was a significant increase in all biomarkers, typically from 41.4 to 165.6 μ g L⁻¹. However, in catalase and glutathione S-transferases, in the highest concentration, the activity was significantly decreased. This study suggests that the chronic exposure of Danio rerio to simvastatin and clofibric acid does not interfere with the sex ratio and maturation stages of individuals. As antioxidant defenses are important in terms of the capacity of the organism to overcome oxidative stress, along with effects in locomotion, it can affect the metabolism or even the survival of organisms. Therefore, further studies in terms of mode of action of these two compounds, including reproductive disruption effects in longer exposures, are required to observe and characterize the long-term effects of simvastatin and clofibric acid in the aquatic compartment and its organisms.

Table of contents

List of FiguresVII
List of AcronymsXVII
1. Introduction1
1.1. Pharmaceuticals in the environment1
1.2. Endocrine disruptors4
1.3. Behavior6
1.4. Biochemical parameters7
1.5. Simvastatin11
1.6. Clofibric acid14
1.7. Zebrafish16
1.8. Objectives16
2. Material and methods
2.1. Chemicals18
2.2. Test organisms19
2.3. Concentrations of chemicals19
2.4. Acute exposure20
2.4.1. Behavioral test20
2.4.2. Biochemical analyses21
2.4.2.1. Superoxide dismutase activity quantification21
2.4.2.2. Catalase activity quantification21
2.4.2.3. Glutathione peroxidase activity quantification21
2.4.2.4. Glutathione S-transferases activity quantification22
2.4.2.5. Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances quantification22
2.4.2.6. Protein determination22
2.5. Chronic exposure22
2.5.1. Fish sacrifice23
2.5.2. Sample processing24
2.6. Statistical analyses24

3. Results	26			
3.1. Simvastatin	26			
3.1.1. Acute exposure	26			
3.1.1.1. Behavioral results	26			
3.1.1.2. Biochemical results	30			
3.1.1.2.1. Superoxide dismutase	30			
3.1.1.2.2. Catalase	31			
3.1.1.2.3. Glutathione peroxidase	32			
3.1.1.2.4. Glutathione S-transferases	32			
3.1.1.2.5. Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances	33			
3.1.2. Chronic exposure	34			
3.1.2.1. Sex determination	34			
3.1.2.2. Gonadal developmental stages	34			
3.2. Clofibric acid				
3.2.1. Acute exposure	37			
3.2.1.1. Behavioral results	37			
3.2.1.2. Biochemical results	42			
3.2.1.2.1. Superoxide dismutase	42			
3.2.1.2.2. Catalase	43			
3.2.1.2.3. Glutathione peroxidase	44			
3.2.1.2.4. Glutathione S-transferases	44			
3.2.1.2.5. Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances	45			
3.2.2. Chronic exposure	46			
3.2.2.1. Sex determination	46			
3.2.2.2. Gonadal developmental stages	46			
4. Discussion	50			
4.1. Simvastatin	50			
4.1.1. Behavioral assessment	50			
4.1.2. Biochemical assessment	53			
4.1.3. Sex determination and gonadal developmental stages	57			

4.2. C	lofibric acid	59
	4.2.1. Behavioral assessment	59
	4.2.2. Biochemical assessment	61
	4.2.3. Sex determination and gonadal developmental stages	64
5. Conclusior	۱	67
6. Reference	S	69

List of Figures

Figure	1	_	Chemical	structure	of	SIM	(Adapted	from	Alarfaj	et	al.,
2012)											11
Figure	2	-	Chemical	structure	of	CA	(Adapted	from	Kim	et	al.,
2014)											14

Figure 3 - Small distance traveled for individuals exposed to SIM, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with the control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test, test, test).

p<0.05).....27

Figure 5 - Swimming time for individuals exposed to SIM, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test,

Figure 15 – Histological architecture in terms of maturation stages of spermatocytes identified in different treatment groups exposed to SIM (n=10 fish/treatment). (A) Immature phase at 369.8 ng L⁻¹, with primary spermatogonia (arrow) (400x); (B) Early developing subphase at 184.9 ng L⁻¹, with primary spermatocyte (arrow) (400x); (C) Developing phase at 369.8 ng L⁻¹, with secondary spermatocyte (arrow) (400x); and (D) Spawning capable phase in the control group, with spermatids (arrowhead) and spermatozoa (arrow) (400x).

Figure 18 - Large distance traveled for individuals exposed to clofibric acid, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with the control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test in Dunnett's the three first periods, and test in the last dark cycle,

Figure 27 – Histological architecture in terms of maturation stages of females in different treatment groups exposed to CA (n=10 fish/treatment). (A) Immature phase at 165.6 μ g L⁻¹, with primary growth oocytes (arrow) (200x); (B) Early developing subphase in the control group, with cortical alveolar oocyte (arrow) (200x); (C) Developing phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with primary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (D) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (C) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary (200x)......

Figure	30	-	Male	developmental	stage	in	individuals	exposed	to	CA	(n=10
fish/tre	atmei	nt)									49

List of Acronyms

- CA Clofibric acid; 2-(p-Chlorophenyl)-2-methylpropanoic acid
- CAT Catalase
- CDNB 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene
- CNS Central nervous system
- Cu-ZnSOD Copper-zinc superoxide dismutase
- CYP450 Cytochrome P450
- dpf Days post-fertilization
- EDCs Endocrine disrupting chemicals
- FET Fish embryo toxicity test
- GPx Glutathione peroxidase
- GR Glutathione reductase
- GSH Reduced glutathione
- GSSG Oxidized glutathione
- GSTs Glutathione S-transferases
- HDL High-density lipoproteins
- HMG-CoA 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A
- hpf Hours post-fertilization
- LDL Low-density lipoproteins
- MDA Malondialdehyde
- MnSOD Manganese superoxide dismutase
- MS-222 Ethyl 3-aminobenzoate methanesulfonate
- PCBs Polychlorinated biphenyls
- PNS Peripheral nervous system
- POPs Persistent organic pollutants
- PPARs Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- SIM Simvastatin; [(1*S*,3*R*,7*S*,8*S*,8*aR*)-8-[2-[(2*R*,4*R*)-4-hydroxy-6-oxooxan-2-yl]ethyl]-3,7-
- dimethyl-1,2,3,7,8,8a-hexahydronaphthalen-1-yl] 2,2-dimethylbutanoate
- SOD Superoxide dismutase

- SSRIs Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
- TBA 2-thiobarbituric acid
- TBARS Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances
- TCA Trichloroacetic acid
- UGTs Uridine 5'-diphospho-glucuronosyltransferases
- VLDL Very -low-density lipoproteins
- VTG Vitellogenin
- WWTPs Wastewater treatment plants

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Pharmaceuticals in the environment

The worldwide dispersion of xenobiotics, i.e., foreign substances or chemicals that are not normally produced or present in living organisms, leads to environmental polution. This phenomenon is generally a result of human activities, such as industrial and agropecuary undertakings (Embrandiri et al., 2016). Some examples of xenobiotics are heavy metals, fertilizers, insecticides, herbicides, dyes, solvents, agrochemicals, industrial chemicals, such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), hydraulics, halogenated substances, fire retardants, pigments, persistent organic pollutants (POPs), and pharmaceuticals (Reineke & Knackmuss, 1988; Dinka, 2018). The use of pharmaceuticals, namely human treatment drugs, and those used in veterinary medicine, to prevent and treat several diseases, has led to a worldwide increase in their consumption and environmental presence (Jelic et al., 2011). Some pharmaceuticals are discarded directly into the wild, or metabolized and excreted into the environment, potentially affecting aquatic organisms and causing short and long-term effects, analogous to those observed in humans, including toxicological interactions with varied pathways and receptors (Henschel et al., 1997). Ecotoxicology describes the relation between chemical pollutants, the environment where they are released and the organisms present (Segner, 2011). The human excretion of pharmaceutical compounds, in some cases, reaches 40% to 90% in its original form or/and as their active metabolites, through urine and feces, providing an entrance source of these compounds into the sewage, such as in the case of direct discard into the environment, when pharmaceuticals are not properly eliminated (Jones et al., 2005; Kumar & Xagoraraki, 2010). The scientific knowledge concerning the environmental fate and effects of pharmaceuticals has increased significantly in the past several years, demonstrating the toxicity of these compounds in the aquatic ecosystem (Richardson et al., 2005; Kumar & Xagoraraki, 2010; Ojemaye & Petrik, 2019).

The presence of pharmaceuticals, namely the parental substances, metabolites, and transformation products, in the aquatic compartment is, at present, a concerning issue, due to the increase and extensive use of this type of contaminants in medicine.

Environmental exposure to drugs that are continuously released into the environment can have various deleterious effects on living individuals. The occurrence of pharmaceuticals has been detected worldwide, in sewage treatment plants, seawater, surface water and groundwater (Nikolaou et al., 2007). The most common pharmaceuticals found in the environment are included in specific pharmaco-therapeutic classes, such as analgesics, anti-inflammatories, antidepressants, antiepileptics, antibiotics, beta-blockers, lipid regulators (Jelic et al., 2011). Among the pharmaceuticals most commonly detected in water treatment plant effluents, one can find simvastatin (Portugal, <369.8 ng L⁻¹) (Salgado et al., 2010), naproxen (Germany and Taiwan, 0.017 – 0.52 μg L⁻¹) (Ternes, 1998; Lin et al., 2005), diclofenac (Greece and Germany, 0.01 – 0.56 μ g L⁻¹) (Heberer et al., 2001), metoprolol (Germany, 0.025 – 2.2 μ g L⁻¹) (Hirsch et al., 1996; Ternes, 1998), triclosan (USA and Canada, $0.01 - 2.7 \mu g L^{-1}$) (McAvoy et al., 2002; Boyd et al., 2003), ibuprofen (Switzerland and UK, 0.002 – 2.972 μg L⁻¹) (Buser et al., 1998; Roberts & Thomas, 2006), clofibric acid (Germany and UK, 0.044 – 4.55 μ g L⁻¹) (Stan & Heberer, 1997; Roberts & Thomas, 2006), benzafibrate (Germany and Canada, 0.02 – 4.6 μg L⁻¹) (Ternes, 1998; Miao et al., 2002) and carbamazepine (Germany and Taiwan, 0.042 - 6.3 μg L⁻¹) (Ternes, 1998; Lin et al., 2005). This scenario is a direct consequence of the general inefficacy of wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) in removing these substances. The results of previous investigations show that WWTPs are mostly ineffective in the removal of pharmaceuticals (Hignite & Azarnoff, 1977). Therefore, WWTPs constitute the main source of entry of these compounds into the environment (Lin et al., 2010). Physicochemical properties of drugs, such as biodegradability, lipophilicity, solubility, photosensitivity, and volatility, as well as operation and climate conditions during the process of treatment, can affect the removal rate of pharmaceuticals from sewage water (Boxall, 2004; Gracia-Lor et al., 2012). However, pharmaceuticals are resistant to metabolic degradation and to most commonly used wastewater treatment processes, being persistent in the environment (Hignite & Azarnoff, 1977).

Pharmaceutical acute and chronic exposure can have various effects on organisms, especially in the gills, one of the primary organs in direct contact with contaminants, and
liver, which is responsible for the detoxification and metabolism of the organisms (El-Saad & Elgerbed, 2010; Omar & Mahmoud, 2017). Drugs also act in the central nervous system (CNS), damaging its proper functioning, affecting behavior (Monat-Descamps & Deschamps, 2012). Many pharmaceuticals, such as antidepressants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), hormones, antihistamines, and various psychiatric drugs, can alter the behavior of individuals. Changes in behavior can be related to alterations in feeding, movement, reproduction, activity and can have various sources of action (McFarland et al., 2014). Therefore, behavior can affect the survival of organisms, having consequences even at the population level, being a relevant issue to investigate (Brewer et al., 2001). Pharmaceuticals may also alter the intracellular homeostasis, i.e., selfregulating processes by which living organisms try to maintain stability, assuring their survival (McEwen, 2016), disrupting mitochondrial proper function and forming free radicals (Nihat Ozaydin, 2017). Some drugs are also genotoxic, acting directly or indirectly in the DNA (Prieto Garcia et al., 2012), or nephrotoxic, causing deleterious modifications in excretion, metabolism, or favoring endocrine disruption (Voss et al., 2005). Endocrine disruption is commonly characterized by alterations in hormonal activity, through changes in the general development and reproduction of individuals. Generally, endocrine disruptors (EDCs) are highly lipophilic, with considerable bioaccumulation potential, i.e., significant tendency of this pharmaceuticals to accumulate gradually in living organisms (Wang, 2016). EDCs have also been associated with the disruption of mental and immune systems and impaired behavior. Therefore, it is important to understand the effects that endocrine disruptors have in individuals, which are not yet fully understood (Embrandiri et al., 2016; Lauretta et al., 2019).

As previously exposed, the exposure to contaminants may result in a huge variety of effects, at the cellular and biochemical levels, that can be measured by biochemical biomarker assessment (Committee on Biological Markers of the National Research Council, 1987). A biomarker is any measurable response that reflects cellular or biochemical alterations according to the exposure to xenobiotics or of host response (Committee on Biological Markers of the National Research Council, 1987). Biomarkers can include various types of analysis, including behavioral, biochemical and histological assessment (Committee on Biological Markers of the National Research Council, 1987). Biochemical and physiological processes can result from alterations from endogenous or exogenous sources, e.g., after the exposure to contaminants, enabling the evaluation of toxicological effects and being possible to imply the impact in different trophic levels, from the individual to the environment level. The presence of xenobiotics in the wild suggests a pollution frame, which leads to changes in organisms resulting in toxicity (Ayas et al., 2007). Biomarkers can detect the primary effects in the individual exposed to contaminants, e.g. at the behavioral and biochemical level, even at low concentrations, which makes them important tools to assess environmental pollution and consequent effects (Lionetto et al., 2003).

1.2. Endocrine disruptors

The reproductive physiology in fish consists of sexual and gonadal development of both males and females. Various organs are involved in the sex development and maturation of individuals. The primary organ that regulates these processes is the hypothalamus, which produces gonadotropin-releasing hormones, which act in the pituitary gland, which releases gonadotropins. These hormones stimulate gametogenesis, i.e., the development of oocytes or spermatozoids in the gonads in fish (Bogers, 2008). Some xenobiotics, known as Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals (EDCs), can disrupt the regulation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonadal axis, by mimicking endogenous hormones. Generally, EDCs bind and/or activate receptors for hormones, mimicking the original hormone (agonist) or blocking the receptors, leading to its inhibition (antagonist) (Leino et al., 2005). Some of the effects observed after exposure to EDCs are the development of intersex, inhibition of gametogenesis, decrease in fertility and modification of the gonadosomatic index (Carnevali et al., 2018). EDCs can also alter the normal functioning of the endocrine system, interfering with hormone activity and, as mentioned before, altering the development, reproduction, and behavior of individuals (Embrandiri et al., 2016; Lauretta et al., 2019). EDCs can affect the early life stages of individuals, through gametogenesis disruption, and may also disrupt the ontogenic development (Mnif et al., 2011).

EDCs that disrupt the action of sex hormones may result from natural sources, such as natural estrogens or phytoestrogens present in leguminosae and soy (isoflavones), or be man-made. From hundreds of thousands of anthropogenic chemicals, one thousand may have endocrine-acting properties, by the disruption of hormone activity in living organisms (Bogers, 2008; Crusselle-Davis & Archer, 2010). Some examples of this type of EDCs of anthropogenic origin are pharmaceuticals, including estrogens, antibiotics, beta-blockers, antiepileptics, pesticides, plastics, metals, industrial chemicals and lipid regulating drugs, such as statins and fibrates (Louis & Stoker, 2015). Some of the biological endpoints often investigated after exposure to EDCs are gross morphology, including secondary sexual features, as well as secondary sexual characteristics, hepato or gonadosomatic index, levels of liver vitellogenin (VTG), plasma concentrations of androgens and estrogens, and histology of gonads or liver (Bogers, 2008). One of the most sensitive and important endpoints of exposure to EDCs is the histology of gonads, for example, through the determination of sex ratio and maturation stages of individuals (Bogers, 2008). According to Leino et al. (2005), and considering the ovaries, exposure to estrogen receptor agonists, androgen receptor agonists, androgen receptor antagonists, and steroid metabolism can affect the development and maturation of oocytes, which can reduce or cease ovulation. EDCs may also affect the testes, and in this case, their effects are more variable, possibly resulting in the hyper-production of sperm, caused by androgen receptor agonists and aromatase inhibitors, and degenerative alterations, caused by estrogen receptor agonists (Leino et al., 2005). Several guidelines conducted in fish use sex ratio and gonadal maturation stages as an endpoint, indicating estrogen, androgen and steroidogenic activity, such as the Medaka Extended One-Generation Reproduction Test (OECD, 2015) and the Fish Sexual Development Test (OECD, 1984). Danio rerio was suggested as a model organism for the assessment of EDCs effects in terms of gonad development (Eimon & Ashkenazi, 2010).

1.3. Behavior

Behavior is an orderly sequence of actions controlled by the peripheral (PNS) and central nervous system (CNS), as well as a display of processes that assure the survival of the individual, at the biochemical, genetic and physiological levels (Benson et al., 2010). Internal and external stimuli can alter the behavior of the organisms, thus having an impact on their survival (Sloman & Mcneil, 2012). Behavioral traits may result from altered physiological processes due to exposure to external contaminants, and consequently, behavioral changes have been generally used to assess the effects of xenobiotics in the aquatic compartment (Scott & Sloman, 2004). Aquatic organisms, namely fish, represent ideal models for behavioral evaluation after the exposure to contaminants. They have complex behaviors, are in direct and constant contact with the source of contamination present in their environment, are ecological relevant in terms of natural systems, are easy to maintain in the laboratory, and are able to come into reproductive readiness in short periods of time, i.e., they have several reproductive periods during the year in several species of fish (Kane et al., 2005). Consequently, the behavioral assessment in fish is considered as an integral part of modern toxicological assays, because this can be a specific, reliable and sensitive method to evaluate chemical effects (Moser, 2010).

Behavioral alterations can be a toxic response to exposure to certain compounds (Moser, 2010). There are a large number and types of environmental chemicals that can alter behavior. According to Grue et al. (2002), they can be classified into eight categories. Narcotic chemicals, i.e., low molecular weight solvents, can cause narcosis, and consequently, they result in hypoactivity and reduced responsiveness of the individual, while excitatory agents can cause oxidative phosphorylation, resulting in hyperactivity and hyperreactivity (Grue et al., 2002). Metals originate tissue damage or biochemical impairment, disrupting feeding activity and reproduction, whereas organometals can cause nerve tissue damage, affecting reproduction (Grue et al., 2002). Cholinesterase inhibitors, i.e., organophosphates, carbamates, and many others, can cause hypoactivity and behavioral depression (Grue et al., 2002). On the other hand, reactive chemicals, such as acrolein and benzaldehyde, can cause electrophilic reactions, affecting coordination

and causing hyporeactivity, while central nervous system (CNS) seizure agents, i.e., pyrethroids and organochloride pesticides, act directly on the CNS, causing seizures, hyperactivity, ataxia, convulsions and affect coordination (Grue et al., 2002). Finally, endocrine disruptors, affect mainly reproductive behavior (Grue et al., 2002).

One example of behavioral testing developed with fish is avoidance and attraction, as the individual normally avoids the contaminated area if the chemical induces avoidance, as other contaminants can have attractive responses (Brewer et al., 2001). Respiratory patterns are also behavioral biomarkers, as the contaminant can have several effects on the frequency and amplitude of opercular movements (Diamond et al., 1990). Intra and interspecific interactions are other examples of the behavioral monitoring. The hypoactivity and hyperactivity, prey capture, predator avoidance, scototaxis (preference for light or dark), and reproduction can have a causal linkage with the fate of the population (Laurence, 1972; Steele, 1983). Another type of testing involves the analysis of swimming patterns, as the individuals can develop altered locomotory responses, and the frequency of swimming movements and duration of activity can change due to the exposure to xenobiotics (Little & Finger, 1990; Brewer et al., 2001). Movement analysis is often conducted by automated biomonitoring systems because of their sensitivity, involving the quantification of swimming patterns and videography, such as Zebrabox from Viewpoint (Smith & Bailey, 1988; Miller et al., 2009). Using this automated system, several parameters can be measured, including velocity, acceleration, total distance traveled, angles, swimming time, and horizontal and vertical distribution of individuals.

1.4. Biochemical parameters

One of the most recurrent responses to chemical compounds involves the activation of metabolic defenses, generally by the activation of phase I of enzymatic complexes, modulating phases II and III of metabolism (Holth et al., 2008). Metabolic defense mechanisms usually increase the hydrophilicity of xenobiotics through hydrolysis, reduction, oxidation and/or especially conjugation, which ultimately, but not always, can lead to the transport and excretion of the toxicant (McFarland et al., 2014). Cytochrome monooxygenases P450 enzymes (CYP450) are the major enzymes in phase I of

metabolism, oxidizing lipophilic into hydrophilic compounds (Sharma et al., 2012). Commonly, the poor coupling of the CYP450 catalytic cycle results in the continuous production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), that are relevant in signaling pathways and can be responsible for oxidative stress (Banerjee & Ghosh, 2016).

Most xenobiotics are known to cause hyperproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and oxidative stress after being metabolized. Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between the production of ROS and antioxidant defenses, through the activity of several enzymes in the cytoplasm, mitochondria and peroxisomes (Betteridge, 2000). ROS are chemically reactive molecules that are produced during the oxidative metabolism in mitochondria and as a cellular response to xenobiotics (Ray et al., 2012). Although ROS are often associated with oxidative stress, they also are signaling molecules that regulate biological and physiological processes (Schieber & Chandel, 2014). Redox signaling is relevant in terms of cellular differentiation, prevention of aging and tissue regeneration (Schieber & Chandel, 2014). Thus, oxidative stress is present when there is a hyperproduction of ROS that exceeds the capacity of the cell to deploy an antioxidant response (Ray et al., 2012). Large varieties of substances that were already found in the water, including pharmaceuticals, can cause oxidative stress to aquatic species (Valavanidis et al., 2006). Some examples of enzymes that are involved in the antioxidant defense mechanisms, and that are used as biomarkers of oxidative stress, are superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx).

Superoxide dismutase is found in three different forms: extracellular SOD, SOD containing manganese in the mithocondria (MnSOD) and SOD containing copper and zinc, found in the cytoplasm (Cu-ZnSOD) (Lumb, 2017). SOD constitutes protection against the radical superoxide (O₂⁻) toxic effects, as it catalyzes its dismutation into hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and molecular oxygen (O₂). Although hydrogen peroxide is not a reactive oxygen species, it is still an oxidizing agent that causes oxygen toxicity. In that way, SOD consists of cellular defense against ROS (Hayyan et al., 2016).

As the hydrogen peroxide is continuously produced in the organism, two enzymes ensure its removal, i.e. catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) (Lumb, 2017). CAT acts only against hydrogen, methyl and ethyl peroxides (Lumb, 2017). It is part of the antioxidant defense system that exists in peroxisomes (Modesto & Martinez, 2010), where many enzymes that are responsible for the elimination of hydrogen peroxide are located (Djordjević, 2004). Its primary function is the reduction of hydrogen peroxide, into water and molecular oxygen (Aebi, 1984), which prevents the conversion to hydroxyl radical and other even more toxic ROS (Djordjević, 2004).

GPx is found in multiple forms, all containing selenium as the catalytic metal (Blondet et al., 2018). It is found in the cytoplasm and mitochondria and acts in a wider range of peroxides, in the way that it can reduce organic peroxides unlike CAT and reactive species originated by lipid peroxidation (Cohen & Hochstein, 1963; Tappel, 1984; Flohé, 1985). GPx also acts against hydrogen peroxide, by the conversion of reduced glutathione (GSH) and hydrogen peroxide into water and oxidized glutathione, a dimer of reduced glutathione (GSSG) (Blondet et al., 2018). The tripeptide glutathione in its reduced form (GSH) has many biological roles including protection against ROS and electrophiles, or as a cofactor for many other enzymes (Ray et al., 2012). It acts directly as antioxidant defense, and it is present in various metabolic processes. Glutathione stores cysteine and nitric oxide, transporting also the latter, and it takes part in the functioning of transcription factors involved in redox signaling, being also responsible for the detoxification of various xenobiotics and endogenous substances (Lushchak, 2012). Glutathione reductase is responsible for the maintenance of the supply of reduced glutathione, at a cellular level, recycling the oxidized into the reduced form, and in turn maintaining the antioxidant capacity of glutathione (Couto et al., 2016). Considering their intimate interconnection, GPx, glutathione (both forms) and glutathione reductase are altogether present in hepatocytes, allowing glutathione-mediated detoxification (Blondet et al., 2018).

As mentioned before, drug metabolism is characterized by three phases (Banerjee et al., 2016). The activity of metabolic components of phase I and II have regularly been used as biomarkers, i.e., by the increase or decrease in enzymes` activity, as a result of the presence of xenobiotics, such markers can be used to estimate the toxic effects in aquatic organisms (Holth et al., 2008). One example of this type of enzymes is phase II metabolic isoenzymes glutathione S-transferases (GSTs). Glutathione S-transferases are a

9

set of enzymes that lead to the conjugation of reduced glutathione with electrophilic centers, resulting in the metabolism and detoxification of xenobiotics (Ray et al., 2012). Consequently, it is considered one of the best examples of enzymes involved in phase II of biotransformation (Bradford, 1976; Modesto & Martinez, 2010). In that way, GSTs prevent the interaction of xenobiotic substrates with nucleic acids and cellular proteins (Dzoyem et al., 2014). GSTs can also transport proteins and some of their isoenzymes can reduce organic hydroperoxides and are responsible for the isomerization of unsaturated substances, protecting the organism against oxidative stress, and therefore, oxidative damage (Rahman, 2007; G. S. Smith, Walter, & Walker, 2013; Dzoyem et al., 2014).

Lipid peroxidation can result because of the depletion or inefficacy of the previous oxidative damage preventive measures (Castell et al., 1997). Oxidative damage can occur due to the hyperproduction of ROS, by an imbalance between ROS production and their scavenging (Sharma et al., 2012). It affects mainly proteins (denaturation), nucleic acids, carbohydrates and lipids (peroxidation) (Sharma et al., 2012). Therefore, oxidative damage can affect lipoproteins, cellular membranes and molecules containing lipids, and can lead to structural tissue damage and eventually to cell death by apoptosis or necrosis (Meena & Naik, 2019). Free radicals interact with lipids present in membranes, particularly unsaturated fatty acids (Halliwell, 2009; Sies, 1985). This process involves hydrogen removal from a carbon atom, with the insertion of oxygen, leading to the formation of lipid peroxyl radicals and hydroperoxides (Ayala et al., 2014). As secondary products, various aldehydes are formed, such as malondialdehyde-like substances (Ayala et al., 2014). The production of aldehydes (malondialdehyde-like substances) and hydrocarbons lead eventually to the loss of membrane integrity (Dzoyem & Eloff, 2014). Malondialdehyde is the main chemical produced by the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (Lykkesfeldt, 2007). It can be enzymatically metabolized or it may react with DNA, cells or tissue proteins, forming adducts, which results in lipid peroxidation (Ayala et al., 2014). In that way, malondialdehyde is mainly produced by the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids, being a more reliable and comprehensive indicator of the total amount of final products of lipid peroxidation (Lykkesfeldt, 2007). Lipid peroxidation may be expressed as the content of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), i.e.,

malondialdehydes and other thiobarbituric acid reactive substances. It is the oldest but still the most used methodology for the measurement of lipid peroxidation, by the quantification of malondialdehyde-like compounds (Dasgupta & Klein, 2014).

1.5. Simvastatin



Figure 1 – Chemical structure of SIM (Adapted from Alarfaj et al., 2012)

Lipid-regulating drugs are one of the most prescribed medications around the world, to control human cholesterol levels, to more than 20 million patients (Davidson, 2009), with an expected global market size of 22.6 billion USD by 2022 (Research and Markets, 2018). According to the Infarmed – Portuguese National Authority for Medicines and Health Products, I.P., the consumption of lipid-regulating drugs has increased for decades. Over the years, the cost of antihyperlipidemic drugs has decreased drastically, favoring the increase in its consumption. If the price of such drugs remained constant between 2010 and 2013, the Portuguese population would have spent 129 million \in in that period (Infarmed I.P., 2013).

There are several lipid-regulating drugs, such as inhibitors of absorption of cholesterol, nicotinic acid, fish oil derivatives and fibrates, but statins are the predominant group (Rang et al., 2007). In 2013, 90% of lipid-regulating drugs sold in Portugal, corresponded to statins, and the other 10% were generally fibrates (Infarmed

I.P., 2013). Some examples of statins are lovastatin, pravastatin, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin, fluvastatin, pitavastatin, and simvastatin (Rang et al., 2007). Statins exert their therapeutic activity by inhibiting 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase (Rang et al., 2007; Davidson, 2009). HMG-CoA reductase catalyzes the conversion of HMG-CoA to mevalonic acid. Thus, the most evident effect of statins is the reduction of plasma low-density lipoproteins (LDL), some reduction in plasma triglycerides and an increase in high-density lipoproteins (HDL) (Rang et al., 2007). They constitute the first therapeutic option to lower LDL (Stroes, 2005).

According to Infarmed I.P. (2013), the most sold statin in Portugal is simvastatin (SIM). SIM (Figure 1) acts as an inhibitor of the production of cholesterol in the liver (Germershausen et al., 1989). After ingestion, SIM is hydrolyzed, producing a metabolite, in a β -hydroxy acid form, that is structurally similar to HMG-CoA (Vickers et al., 1990). By competition, it inhibits HMG-CoA reductase, reducing the quantity of mevalonic acid, a cholesterol precursor (Germershausen et al., 1989).

Simvastatin can also increase mitochondrial and peroxisomal β -oxidation of fatty acids (Park et al., 2016). β -oxidation and the Krebs cycle are closely related to the electron transport chain. In turn, the final electron acceptor of the electron transport chain consists in O₂, which leads to the production of H₂O, and ultimately to the formation of ROS, such as O₂⁻, HO⁻ and H₂O₂ (Speijer et al., 2014). The production of reactive oxygen species can, therefore, lead to oxidative stress, and ultimately to oxidative damage. The degradation of fatty acids has the primary goal of the formation of acetyl-CoA, to serve as a carbon and energy source, essential for the metabolism of the individual. This process can lead to behavioural changes in organisms due to changes in the input of energy (Orton & Parker, 1982).

SIM is biotransformed by the cytochrome P450 in the liver o fish, particularly by the CYP3A4 isoform. Subsequently, it undergoes glucuronidation, a reaction catalyzed by UDP-glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs) (Prueksaritanont et al., 2002). The metabolism of SIM produces at least four primary metabolites (K. H. Kim et al., 2011).

Considering its use, SIM is released into the sewage system, and ultimately may be discharged into the aquatic compartment, where its photodegradation rate is minimal

(<0.45% during three days) and no degradation product is detected (Sawant & Barge, 2014). Water hydrolysis is dependent on pH and temperature. The higher these values, i.e., higher than pH=7 and 60°C, the faster is the hydrolysis process (Álvarez-Lueje et al., 2005).

The occurrence of SIM in wastewater has been reported in various studies, in multiple countries, such as Greece, with concentrations reaching 718 ng L⁻¹, in wastewater influents (Papageorgiou et al., 2016); in the UK, reaching 115 and 5 ng L⁻¹, in wastewater influents and effluents, respectively (Kasprzyk-Hordern et al., 2009); and in Spain, 7.5 ng L⁻¹, in a drinking water treatment plant (Boleda et al., 2011). Samples from the river Danube also reported a concentration of 0.04 to 0.7 ng L⁻¹ (Martín et al., 2011).

There are only a few studies regarding the effects of SIM in aquatic organisms. Some of them showed that this compound can lead to a disruption in the reproduction and development (endocrine disruption), compromising the populational growth of the amphipod *Gammarus locusta* (Neuparth et al., 2014); it can also affect the development time and growth rate of harpacticoid copepods (Dahl et al., 2006). Ellesat et al. (2010) reported a dose-response toxic effect in primary hepatocytes of *Oncorhynchus mykiss* exposed to simvastatin (1 to 200 mg L⁻¹), by the reduction of metabolic activity and stability of membranes. A significant decrease in the development rate was identified in *Nitocra spinipes* exposed to SIM (810 mg L⁻¹ during 96h) (Dahl et al., 2006). A decrease in larval length and an increase in morphological abnormalities were also identified in *Danio rerio* (Ribeiro et al., 2015). Strzyzewski et al. (2013) have identified the reduction of oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation by simvastatin. On the other hand, there was an increase in GSTs activity and a decrease in SOD and CAT activity in *Danio rerio* larvae, during 80h of exposure (Cunha et al., 2016). Thus, SIM seems to have antioxidant properties.

1.6. Clofibric acid



Figure 2 - Chemical structure of CA (Adapted from Kim et al., 2014)

Some of the fibric acid derivatives, commonly known as fibrates, are bezafibrate, ciprofibrate, gemfibrozil, fenofibrate, and clofibrate. Fibrates reduce the levels of very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL, precursors of LDL) and triglycerides, reducing LDL and increasing HDL, as well. Fibrates can interact with hepatic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs), that regulate the transcription of genes encoding enzymes involved in the synthesis and secretion of lipids, and of the β -oxidation of fatty acids (Michalik et al., 2006). The main principle of action of fibrates is the activation of PPAR α , that activates lipoprotein lipase, which results in the decreasing formation of VLDL (Rang et al., 2007). The reduction of plasmatic cholesterol derived from body tissues and the inhibition of the hepatic synthesis of cholesterol (Rang et al., 2007).

Clofibrate, etofibrate, and etofyllinclofibrate can be hydrolyzed into clofibric acid (2-(4-chlorophenoxy)-2-methylpropanoic acid) (Figure 2), which is the active metabolite that circulates in plasma and it is believed to be responsible for the hypolipidemic properties of these fibrates (Daughton & Ternes, 1999). Clofibric acid induces the enzymatic activity of hepatic peroxisomes, through binding to the nuclear receptor PPAR, increasing the number and size of the peroxisomes, and consequently their enzyme load and activity. This leads to an increase in β -oxidation of fatty acids (Orton & Parker, 1982). This process can take place in the mitochondria and the peroxisomes. The degradation of fatty acids has the primary goal of the formation of acetyl-CoA, to serve as a carbon and energy source, essential for the metabolism of the individual. Subsequently, CA

undergoes biotransformation, by the cytochrome P450, particularly the CYP4A isoform and glucuronidation (Orton & Parker, 1982). The excretion of CA occurs mostly through urine. While 3 to 20% of this compound can be excreted in its original form, it is generally conjugated and/or excreted as a glucuronic acid conjugate, after the glucuronidation process (Walmsley, 1985). Three metabolites have been identified for clofibric acid: hydroxyisobutyric acid, lactic acid and 4-chlorophenol (Salgado et al., 2012).

The occurrence of CA in wastewater has been reported in several studies, in many countries, such as the UK, with concentrations ranging from 1 to 57 ng L⁻¹, in wastewater influents (Kasprzyk-Hordern et al., 2009); in Canada, ranging from 101 to 175 ng L⁻¹, in surface water of the Detroit River and Hamilton Harbour (Metcalfe et al., 2003); in China, with maximum values of 56.2 and 44.9 ng L⁻¹, in wastewater influents and effluents, respectively (Sui et al., 2011); and in Korea, with concentration reaching 65 and 6 ng L⁻¹, in wastewater influents and effluents, respectively. According to the results obtained by Buser et al. (1998), there is evidence of resistance to sewage treatment and degradation in water, where CA is predicted to persist for approximately 21 years. However, a more recent study reported a high photodegradation rate of this compound, with a half-life period of 50 h when exposed to natural light. Its persistence in the aquatic compartment seems to be related to the quantity of organic matter and nitrates, or by the presence of hydroxyl and other free radicals, that can lead to the photochemical loss (Packer, Werner, Latch, McNeill, & Arnold, 2003).

There are only a few studies regarding the effects of CA in aquatic organisms. Some of them showed that this compound can decrease the growth rate of rainbow trout by 50% (from 5.27 to 2.67% per day), in organisms exposed to clofibric acid ranging from 0.1 to 10 μ g L⁻¹ during 28 days (Owen et al., 2010); it can also increase the production of superoxide radicals and MnSOD and SOD total activity in humans (Strzyżewski et al., 2013); increase in the CAT activity in *Gambusia holbrooki* (Nunes et al., 2004) and it can lead to the hyperproduction of ROS in rodents (Qu et al., 2001). There is evidence that CA can disrupt the reproductive system, affecting the development and reproduction of individuals, through alterations in endocrine control, i.e., by the reduction of cholesterol, that is used to synthesize hormones (Dahl et al., 2006; Owen et al., 2010).

1.7. Zebrafish

Zebrafish, Danio rerio, is a freshwater fish species, originally from South Asia belonging to the family Cyprinidae. This species constitutes an alternative animal model in several areas of biological sciences, including Toxicology and Ecotoxicology. Zebrafish is a good bioindicator in terms of ecotoxicological effects of contaminants in living organisms, because of its sequenced genome, also being similar to humans in terms of biological systems (Dooley & Zon, 2000). Breeding and maintenance of individuals are easy to perform in the laboratory, allowing it to be considered as a model organism for vertebrate biology studies (Dooley & Zon, 2000). Its rearing is made under controlled conditions, regarding the temperature of the water, pH, conductivity, dissolved oxygen and other factors (OECD, 2013). Its use in ecotoxicology testing is due mainly to its easily understandable and observable behavioral responses, as well as the morphological characteristics of its embryos, that are relatively large and transparent, which enables the analyses of alterations or malformations (Dahm, 2006). Also, under controlled conditions, it allows the production of a large number of eggs, having a short reproductive cycle, in which the full maturity is reached in 3 months (Hill et al., 2005). D. rerio is a standard species in ecotoxicology assays, assessing the relationship between xenobiotics and biological systems (OECD, 2013). The use of zebrafish embryos is yet to be regulated by current European Union legislation in terms of animal welfare, being zebrafish-based bioassays an alternative to animal experiments and an opportunity to assess the environmental risk of xenobiotics in a small-scale (Scholz et al., 2008). The fish embryo toxicity test (FET) conducted with this species is one of the most used tests performed with zebrafish embryos, and some of its advantages are related to the required small amounts of test compounds, short periods of exposure and single breeding stock (OECD, 2013).

1.8. Objectives

The present study aimed to evaluate the effects of the two drugs, SIM and CA, in zebrafish larvae and juveniles. To achieve this purpose, an acute (120 hpf) and chronic (60 dpf) exposures were conducted to a range of concentrations of each pharmaceutical

compound, at ecologically relevant concentrations, i.e., concentrations already found in the environment. In order to evaluate their toxic effects, behavioral analysis (zebrabox testing for the small and large distance traveled, as well as the swimming time and total distance) and biochemical markers of oxidative stress (determination of the activity of the enzymes SOD, CAT and GPx), biotransformation (GSTs), and lipid peroxidation (TBARS) and histological assessment (sex determination and gonadal developmental stages) were evaluated.

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Chemicals

The chemicals used in this study, namely SIM ([(15,3R,7S,8S,8aR)-8-[2-[(2R,4R)-4hydroxy-6-oxooxan-2-yl]ethyl]-3,7-dimethyl-1,2,3,7,8,8*a*-hexahydronaphthalen-1-yl] 2,2dimethylbutanoate; CAS: 79902-63-9; purity \geq 97 %) and CA (2-(p-Chlorophenyl)-2methylpropanoic acid; CAS: 882-09-7; purity \geq 99 %) were acquired from Sigma-Aldrich (Schnellforf, Germany). Exposure media were prepared by successive dilution of the stock solutions, with water provided from Tecniplast ZebTEC Zebrafish Facility recirculating system. Two stock solutions of SIM were prepared in ultrapure water (Milli-Q-Water), one with a concentration of 4 mg L⁻¹, which was used to prepare a second stock solution, with a concentration of 4 µg L⁻¹. However, only one stock solution of CA was prepared, with a concentration of 1,2 mg L⁻¹. Ethyl 3-aminobenzoate methanesulfonate (MS-222; CAS: 886-86-2), reduced glutathione (GSH; CAS: 70-18-8), 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (CDNB; CAS: 97-00-7), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂; CAS: 7722-84-1), trichloroacetic acid (TCA; CAS: 76-03-9), 2-thiobarbituric acid (TBA; CAS: 504-17-6), glutathione reductase (GR; CAS: 9001-48-3), cumene hydroperoxide (CAS: 80-15-9), cytochrome c (CAS: 9007-43-6), potassium cyanide (CAS: 151-50-8) and bovine γ-globulin (CAS: 9007-83-4) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Bradford reagent was purchased from Bio-Rad UK. The chemicals used for histological analyses were ethanol absolute (CAS: 64-17-5), acquired from AGA – Álcool e Géneros Alimentares S.A.; Appliclear (Xylene substitute) (CAS: 64742-49-0), Bouin liquor for clinical diagnosis, and Histofix decalcifier 1 for clinical diagnosis, all were purchased from PanReac AppliChem ITW Reagents; Hematoxylin solution modified acc. to Gill III, Certistain (Eosin y) (CAS: 15086-94-9) and DPX new (non-aqueous mounting medium for microscopy) were acquired from Merck-Millipore; Hydrochloric acid standard solution 1M was purchased from Fluka Analytical (Sigma-Aldrich). All other chemicals for buffers preparation were obtained either from Sigma-Aldrich or Merck-Millipore.

2.2. Test organisms

Individuals of the test species (*Danio rerio*) used in this study were kept in a Tecniplast ZebTEC Zebrafish Facility recirculating system under controlled conditions (OECD, 2013). Water temperature was $26 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C, pH was 7.5 \pm 0.5, conductivity was 750 \pm 50 μ S cm⁻¹, and dissolved oxygen was equal or above 95% of saturation. The culture water was tap water filtered and purified by activated carbon and reverse osmosis, to which "Instant Ocean Synthetic Sea Salt" (Spectrum Brands, USA) was added to regulate the conductivity to 800 μ S cm⁻¹. The photoperiod cycle was upheld at 16h:8h (light: dark). The adult individuals were fed twice daily during the week, once on the weekend, with an artificial diet [GEMMA Micro 500, acquired from Skretting Zebrafish (Maine, United States)]. To protect eggs from predation by adult individuals, marbles were placed in the bottom of the aquarium for refuge. After the removal of the marbles, eggs were collected, rinsed with water and malformations or absence of cleavage were identified under a stereomicroscope (Nikon, SMZ 1500) for eggs to be discarded.

2.3. Concentrations of chemicals

The concentrations to which test organisms were exposed, in both chronic and acute exposures, were 92.45, 184.9, 369.8, 739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹ for SIM, and 10.35, 20.7, 41.4, 82.8 and 165.6 μ g⁻¹ L for CA. The most concentrated solution of each contaminant was directly prepared from the stock solution, and submitted to successive dilution, as mentioned before. The intermediate concentration values for each of the contaminants (SIM – 369.8 ng L⁻¹; CA – 41.4 μ g L⁻¹) were based on ecologically relevant concentrations, i.e., the maximum level found in effluents from wastewater treatment plants in Portugal (Salgado et al., 2010) and in the predicted environmental concentrations for Portuguese surface waters (Pereira et al., 2015), as well as the levels found in WWTP influents (11.7±3.2 μ g L⁻¹), effluents (2.65±0.8 μ g L⁻¹) and Apies River (1.585±0.3 μ g L⁻¹), all located in Pretoria, South Africa (Tete et al., 2019), respectively. Lower concentrations were thus considered realistic and ecologically relevant; higher concentrations allowed testing for the organisms' responsiveness towards both chemicals.

2.4. Acute exposure

The method used in acute exposure was a modified fish embryotoxicity test (FET; OECD, 2013). In the present study, eggs were transferred to 96-well plates, each well containing 300 μ L of each test solution and one egg, five replicates (20 pools, a total of 100 eggs) for each concentration and control group, for each contaminant. For the measurement of the behavioral and biomarker activities, the larvae were exposed during 120 h, for behavioral assessment and subsequent biochemical analysis.

CA has a half-life of 50 h in natural water irradiated by sunlight (Packer et al., 2003). Therefore, every two days (approximately 48h), exposure media for both contaminants were newly made, with water retrieved from the Tecniplast ZebTEC Zebrafish Facility recirculating system, including control group, and partially renewed by approximately 80%, according to the OECD guidelines (OECD, 1984; OECD, 1992; OECD, 2011; OECD, 2013).

2.4.1. Behavioral test

The period of exposure to both drugs was extended to 120 hpf, as mentioned before, to allow the complete development of the swim bladder. Only then it was possible to evaluate locomotor activity using the Zebrabox (Viewpoint, Lyon, France) tracking system under stabilized temperature (26 ± 1 °C). The larvae were observed for the identification of morphological alterations or deformations that could compromise locomotory capacity, being removed from the test if such conditions were observed (Şişman et al., 2008). The test was conducted in a cycle of four alternating periods during twenty minutes, i.e., 1200 s [0 to 300 s (light), 300 to 600 s (dark), 600 to 900 s (light), 900 to 1200 s (dark)]. The alternate light and dark cycles are justified by the natural behavior of *D. rerio*; normally developing larvae show little to no movement in the light periods and increase their swimming activity in dark periods (Collier et al., 2017). Data outputs were obtained at the end of each cycle and the following parameters were calculated: relatively small (less than 0.5 mm s⁻¹) and large distance, total distance traveled (sum of small and large distance traveled) and relative swimming time.

After the motor activity test, pools of 20 larvae (as mentioned before) were allocated into Eppendorf microtubes and kept at -80 °C. For the biomarker analysis, the larvae were homogenized in 1 mL of phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH = 7.0, with Triton X-100 0.1 %) by sonication (Branson S-250A), on ice, during 30 seconds, and centrifuged (refrigerated centrifuge Thermo Fisher Scientific - Heraeus mod. Megafuge 8R) at 15.000 g during 10 min at 4°C. After centrifugation, the remaining pellets were discarded, and the supernatants were collected and stored at -80 °C.

2.4.2. Biochemical analyses

2.4.2.1. Superoxide dismutase activity quantification

The SOD activity quantification (total, Cu-ZnSOD, and MnSOD) was based on the method described by Flohé & Ötting (1984). A xanthine-xanthine oxidase system produced superoxide radicals. The result of the reaction of these radicals with cytochrome c represented SOD's total activity. Potassium cyanide inhibited the activity of Cu-ZnSOD, allowing the quantification of the isolated activity of MnSOD. Thus, results for Cu-ZnSOD were obtained as the difference between total SOD activity and MnSOD activity, being compared with MnSOD activity. The enzymatic activity in all of these cases was spectrophotometrically followed at λ = 550 nm and was then expressed in mmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ of protein.

2.4.2.2. Catalase activity quantification

CAT activity quantification was based on the protocol by Aebi (1984). The decomposition of H_2O_2 was catalyzed by CAT. This decomposition was spectrophotometrically followed at λ = 240 nm, by the decrease of absorbance. The enzymatic activity was then expressed in µmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ of protein.

2.4.2.3. Glutathione peroxidase activity quantification

The GPx activity quantification was based on the method proposed by Flohé & Günzler (1984). The reduction of oxidized L-glutathione (GSSG) to its reduced form, GSH, by glutathione reductase, through the oxidation of NADPH (ϵ = 6.2 mM cm⁻¹), was

spectrophotometrically followed at λ = 340 nm. GPx selenium-dependent activity was measured using H₂O₂ as a substrate, whereas GPx total activity (selenium-dependent + non-dependent) was measured using cumene hydroperoxide as a substrate. The enzymatic activity was then expressed in mmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ of protein.

2.4.2.4. Glutathione S-transferases activity quantification

GSTs activity quantification was based on the method described by Habig et al. (1974). The conjugation of CDNB with GSH was catalyzed by GSTs, which led to the formation of a thioether (ϵ = 9.6 mM cm⁻¹). This formation was spectrophotometrically followed at λ = 340 nm, by the increase of the absorbance. The enzymatic activity was then expressed in µmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ of protein.

2.4.2.5. Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances quantification

The TBARS quantification was based on the protocol described by Buege & Aust (1978). In the presence of thiobarbituric acid (TBA) and heat (water bath at approximately 100 °C), malondialdehyde (MDA)-like compounds reacted with TBA, which led to the formation of a colored end product. This formation was spectrophotometrically quantified at λ = 535 nm. TBARS concentrations, expressed as MDA equivalents, were then calculated in µmol min⁻¹ mg⁻¹ of protein.

2.4.2.6. Protein determination

The quantification of protein of all the samples was based on the protocol by Bradford (1976). The conjugation of the Bradford reagent with the total protein led to the formation of a colored and stable complex, which was spectrophotometrically measured at λ = 595 nm. Protein standards were prepared with bovine γ -globulin in a concentration of 1 mg mL⁻¹.

2.5. Chronic exposure

Chronic exposure was based on OECD guidelines (OECD, 2011; OECD, 2013), with some modifications. In the present study, seven hundred and twenty eggs were transferred into twenty-four Petri dishes (with 15 mL of exposure medium each), twentyfive eggs per plate, at the beginning of the experiment. At 96 hpf, larvae were transferred into the exposure aquariums (1 L each). Twenty-five larvae were assigned per aquarium, two replicates for each concentration, including a control group (unexposed individuals), for each contaminant. The aquaria were randomly distributed in the exposure room, under wide spectrum fluorescent bulbs.

The exposure period ended at 60 dpf (chronic exposure) according to the OECD guideline (OECD, 2011). Fish were fed twice daily during the week, and once during the weekend, with synthetic rations, particularly GEMMA Micro 150 (9 to 30 dpf), GEMMA Micro 300 (30 to 60 dpf), acquired from Skretting Zebrafish (Maine, United States), according to Martins et al. (2016).

The exposure media for both contaminants was partially renewed by approximately 80%, according to the OECD guidelines and as mentioned before for the acute exposure, i.e., each 48 hours (OECD, 2011; OECD, 2013).

The water used to prepare the exposure media was under controlled conditions (water temperature = $26 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C, pH = 7.5 \pm 0.5, conductivity = 750 \pm 50 μ S cm⁻¹ and dissolved oxygen saturation \geq 95%). During the exposure, mortality was below 70% in all treatment groups, with no mortality in the control group, in agreement with the requirements of the adopted OECD guideline (OECD, 2011).

2.5.1. Fish sacrifice

After the chronic exposure, five specimens from each aquarium were euthanized by immersion into a solution of MS-222 (250 mg L⁻¹), according to the OECD guideline (OECD, 2011) until there was no observable opercular movement and the specimens could not swim. Experiments took into consideration the AVMA Guidelines for the euthanasia of animals and the Portuguese animal welfare law (Decreto-Lei 113/2013). This facility is certified by the Portuguese veterinarian authority and the experiments were conducted according to guidelines set up by the animal welfare commission of the University of Aveiro.

2.5.2. Sample processing

Fish were dissected, the head and tail were removed and discarded, for the incorporation of Bouin solution into the entire organism, and the specimens (five per replicate) were held in plastic tissue cassettes, followed by immersion into Bouin solution for 24h. After chemically fixed in Bouin, the specimens in tissue cassettes were decalcified (24h), dehydrated through an increasing series of alcohols (70 %, 80 %, 90 % and 100 %, one hour each), cleared with xylene (2 h), impregnated in paraffin wax (56 to 58 °C), and sectioned (5 to 7 µm) using a microtome (Leica, Reichert-Jung 2030). These sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin, mounted with DPX in coverslips, and analyzed by light microscopy (Olympus CX41) for the sex determination and identification of the gonadal developmental stages, according to Brown-Peterson et al. (2011). Female individuals were classified, such as immature (only oogonia and primary growth oocytes present), early developing subphase (only primary growth and cortical alveolar oocytes present), developing (primary growth, cortical alveolar, primary vitellogenic and secondary vitellogenic oocytes present), spawning capable (tertiary vitellogenic oocytes or postovulatory follicle complex present), regressing and regenerating. Male individuals were classified as immature (only primary spermatogonia present), early developing subphase (only primary spermatogonia, secondary spermatogonia, and primary spermatocyte present), developing (secondary spermatogonia, primary spermatocyte, secondary spermatocyte, spermatids and spermatozoa present), spawning capable (spermatozoa in lumen; the various stages of spermatogenesis can be present), regressing and regenerating (Brown-Peterson et al., 2011).

2.6. Statistical analyses

Data from behavioral and biochemical testing was evaluated for equal variance (Levene test) and normality (Shapiro-Wil test) prior to the statistical analyses, with attempted transformations to the data, when needed. Behavioral results were compared by a One-way ANOVA on Ranks, and in some cases by a One-Way ANOVA, when data transformations made it possible. On the other hand, biochemical results were only compared by or One-way ANOVA (Murphy et al., 2003). These statistical analyses were

followed by a Dunnett or Dunn multi-comparison test, after One-way ANOVA or One-way ANOVA on Ranks, respectively, to identify significant differences between the treatments and the control group. Data from sex determination was evaluated statistically for homogeneity with the heterogeneity chi-square analysis, whereas gonadal developmental stages were also statistically evaluated for homogeneity and independence of occurrence through a G test, according to Zar (2010). The adopted level of significance for all statistical methods was 0.05. Data are presented as mean and standard error. The analyses were performed with the software SPSS 24.0.

3. RESULTS

3.1. Simvastatin

3.1.1. Acute exposure

3.1.1.1. Behavioral results

According to the results obtained in terms of small distance traveled by fish exposed to SIM (Figure 3), there were significant differences between treated groups and the control animals, in all light and dark periods. During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), there was a significant decrease in the small distance travelled, except for the organisms exposed to the second highest concentration (739.6 ng L⁻¹), compared with control treatment (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H_5 =91.651, p<0.001). During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was a significant increase, particularly in animals exposed to the intermediate (369.8 ng L⁻¹) and highest concentrations (1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=67.317, p<0.001). During the second light cycle (600 to 900s), there was a significant decrease in fish exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in those exposed to the highest concentration (1479.2 ng L⁻¹), comparing to the control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=35.1, p<0.001). In the final dark period (900 to 1200s), there was a significant decrease, namely in animals exposed to the lowest (92.45 ng L⁻¹) and second highest concentrations (739.6 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in individuals subjected to the highest concentration (1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: $H_5=101.299$, p<0.001).



Figure 3 - Small distance traveled for individuals exposed to SIM, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean \pm SE (n=20 fish/treatment). \clubsuit Stands for light cycles while \checkmark stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with the control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test, p<0.05).

Considering the large distance traveled by fish exposed to SIM, there were significant differences between the treatment groups and the control fish, for all the light and dark periods (Figure 4). During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), there was a significant increase, except for the organisms exposed to the lowest (92.45 ng L⁻¹) and highest (1479.2 ng L⁻¹) concentrations, compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: H₅=111.148, p<0.001). During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was a significant decrease in the individuals subjected to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in those exposed to the second highest concentration (739.6 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅= 59.682, p<0.001). During the second light cycle (600 to 900s), there was a significant decrease in organisms exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in those subjected to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in the second light cycle (600 to 900s), there was a significant decrease in organisms exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in those subjected to the two highest concentrations (739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=86.617, p<0.001). In the final dark period (900 to 1200s), there was a significant increase in those subjected to the two highest concentrations (739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=86.617, p<0.001). In the final dark period (900 to 1200s), there was a Dunn's test: H₅=86.617, p<0.001).

significant increase in individuals exposed to the three highest concentrations (369.8, 739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H_5 =61.514, p<0.001).



Figure 4 - Large distance traveled for individuals exposed to SIM, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean \pm SE (n=20 fish/treatment). \clubsuit Stands for light cycles while \checkmark stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunnett's test in the first light cycle and Dunn's test in the other periods, p<0.05).

According to the results of swimming time measured in fish exposed to SIM, there were significant differences between treatment groups and the control, in the light and dark cycles (Figure 5). During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), there was a significant decrease in organisms exposed to the intermediate (369.8 ng L⁻¹) and second highest concentration (739.6 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=18.426, p=0.002). During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was a significant decrease in the organisms exposed to the two lowest concentrations (92.45 and 184.9 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in the two highest concentrations (739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=99.196, p<0.001). During the second light cycle (600 to 900s), no significant differences were found between animals from the treatment groups and from the control. In the final dark cycle (900 to 1200s), there was a significant

decrease in individuals exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in those subjected to the two highest concentrations (739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H_5 =92.713, p<0.001).



Figure 5 - Swimming time for individuals exposed to SIM, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). Stands for light cycles while stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test, p<0.05).

Considering the total distance traveled by fish exposed to SIM, there were significant differences found between the treatments and the control group in all the light and dark periods (Figure 6). During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), there was a significant increase, particularly in the individuals exposed to the lowest (92.45 ng L⁻¹), intermediate (369.8 ng L⁻¹) and second highest concentration (739.6 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=57.018, p<0.001). During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was a significant decrease in the organisms exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in those exposed to the two highest concentrations (739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=82.244, p<0.001). During the second light cycle (600 to 900s), there was a significant decrease in the

individuals exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in those exposed to the second highest concentration (739.6 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=75.903, p<0.001). During the second and final dark period (900 to 1200s), there was a significant increase in the organisms exposed to the two highest concentrations (739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=60.931, p<0.001).



Figure 6 - Total distance traveled for individuals exposed to SIM, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean \pm SE (n=20 fish/treatment). Stands for light cycles while \bigcirc stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with the control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test, p<0.05).

3.1.1.2. Biochemical results

3.1.1.2.1. Superoxide dismutase

According to the results obtained in terms of copper-zinc SOD (Cu-ZnSOD) activity in fish exposed to SIM, there was a significant decrease, except for the individuals exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: $F_{5.15}$ =37.728, p<0.001). Manganese SOD (MnSOD) activity in the same individuals revealed no significant differences between treatment groups and the control (Figure 7).



Figure 7 – Cu-ZnSOD activity (grey) and MnSOD activity (black) in individuals exposed to SIM. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, in each SOD activity (Cu-Zn or Mn) (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.1.1.2.2. Catalase

Considering the results obtained in terms of the CAT activity in fish exposed to SIM, there were no significant differences found between the treatment groups and the control animals (One-way ANOVA: $F_{5.12}$ =3.784, p=0.027) (Figure 8).



Figure 8 - CAT activity in individuals exposed to SIM. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment).

3.1.1.2.3. Glutathione peroxidase

According to the results of GPx total activity in fish exposed to SIM, there was a significant decrease, except for animals subjected to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: $F_{5.15}$ =8.567, p<0.001). GPx selenium-dependent activity reported a significant increase in organisms exposed to the lowest concentration (92.45 µg L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.13}=16.685, p<0.001) (Figure 9).



Figure 9 - GPx total activity (black) and selenium-dependent activity (grey) in individuals exposed to SIM. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, in each GPx activity (total or selenium-dependent) (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.1.1.2.4. Glutathione S-transferases

Considering the GSTs activity of fish exposed to SIM, there was a significant decrease in animals of all the treatment groups, compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: $F_{5.18}$ =17.955, p<0.001) (Figure 10).



Figure 10 - GSTs activity in individuals exposed to SIM. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.1.1.2.5. Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances

The results obtained in terms of TBARS in fish exposed to SIM, evidenced a significant decrease, except for the individuals subjected to the lowest concentration (92.45 ng L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: $F_{5.13}$ =12.107, p<0.001) (Figure 11).



Figure 11 - TBARS in individuals exposed to SIM. Data are Mean \pm SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.1.2. Chronic exposure

3.1.2.1. Sex determination

Taking into consideration the visual inspection of the HE glass slides of gonads, and after appropriate statistical treatment, no significant differences were found, in terms of sex determination (i.e. the percentage of males vs females) of the individuals exposed to SIM (χ^2 =7.433, df=5, p=0.190) (Figure 12).



Figure 12 – Sex ratio (percentage of males and females) in individuals exposed to SIM (n=10 fish/treatment).

3.1.2.2. Gonadal developmental stages

Only four of the six stages of maturation were identified in females exposed to SIM, namely immature phase, early developing subphase, developing phase and spawning capable phase (Figure 13).



Figure 13 – Histological architecture in terms of maturation stages of females in different treatment groups exposed to SIM (n=10 fish/treatment). (A) Immature phase at 1479.2 ng L⁻¹, with primary growth oocytes (arrow) (200x); (B) Early developing subphase at 184.9 ng L⁻¹, with cortical alveolar oocyte (arrow) (200x); (C) Developing phase at 92.45 ng L⁻¹, with primary vitellogenic oocyte (arrowhead) and secondary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (D) Spawning capable phase at 92.45 ng L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x).

Regarding the recorded developmental stages, no significant differences were found among groups (G=1.913, df=15, p=0.999) (Figure 14).



Figure 14 – Female developmental stage in individuals exposed to SIM (n=10 fish/treatment).

Only four of the six stages of maturation of spermatocytes were identified in males exposed to SIM, namely immature phase, early developing subphase, developing phase and spawning capable phase (Figure 15).



Figure 15 – Histological architecture in terms of maturation stages of spermatocytes identified in different treatment groups exposed to SIM (n=10 fish/treatment). (A) Immature phase at 369.8 ng L^{-1} , with primary spermatogonia (arrow) (400x); (B) Early developing subphase at 184.9 ng L^{-1} , with primary spermatocyte (arrow) (400x); (C) Developing phase at 369.8 ng L^{-1} , with secondary spermatocyte (arrow) (400x); and (D) Spawning capable phase in the control group, with spermatids (arrowhead) and spermatozoa (arrow) (400x).

Taking into consideration the observation of male developmental stages in individuals exposed to SIM, no significant differences were found (G=1.401, df=15, p=0.999) (Figure 16).



Figure 16 – Male developmental stage in individuals exposed to SIM (n=10 fish/treatment).

3.2. Clofibric acid

3.2.1. Acute exposure

3.2.1.1. Behavioral results

According to the results for small distance traveled by fish exposed to CA, there were significant differences between treatment groups and the control in all of the light and dark periods (Figure 17). During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), there was a significant decrease in organisms exposed to the three lowest concentrations (10.35, 20.7 and 41.4 μ g L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in fish subjected to the highest concentration,

compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: $H_5=159.151$, p<0.001). During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was a significant decrease in organisms exposed to second lowest (20.7 µg L⁻¹) and the intermediate concentration (41.4 µg L⁻¹), also followed by a significant increase, namely in those subjected to the two highest concentrations (82.8 and 165.6 µg L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: $H_5=249.941$, p<0.001). The second light cycle (600 to 900s) followed the pattern of the first light cycle, with a significant decrease in organisms exposed to the three lowest concentrations (10.35, 20.7 and 41.4 µg L⁻¹), followed by a significant increase in fish subjected to the highest concentration, compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: $H_5=95.409$, p<0.001). Finally, in the last dark cycle (900 to 1200s), there was a significant decrease in the individuals exposed to the first three treatment groups, compared with the control group (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: $H_5=234.994$, p<0.001).



Figure 17 - Small distance traveled for individuals exposed to clofibric acid, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). Stands for light cycles while stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with the control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test, p<0.05).
Considering the results for large distance traveled by fish exposed to CA, there were significant differences between treatment groups and the control for all the light and dark periods (Figure 18). During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), there was a significant decrease in the large distance travelled in all treatment groups, except for organisms exposed to the second lowest concentration (20.7 µg L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=120.544, p<0.001). During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was also a significant decrease in all treatment groups, except for individuals subjected to the highest concentration (165.6 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=152.207, p<0.001). During the second light cycle (600 to 900s), there was also a significant decrease in all treatment groups, except for organisms exposed to the lowest concentration (10.35 μ g L⁻ ¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=104.041, p<0.001). Finally, during the second dark period (900 to 1200s), there was a significant decrease in all treatment groups, compared with control, through a directly proportional increase between treatments, according to the concentration (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.251}=46.171, p<0.001).



Figure 18 - Large distance traveled for individuals exposed to clofibric acid, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). Stands for light cycles while stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with the

control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test in the three first periods, and Dunnett's test in the last dark cycle, p<0.05).

According to the swimming time of fish exposed to CA, there were significant differences between treatment groups and the control, in the dark and light periods (Figure 19). During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), no significant differences were found between treatment groups and the control. During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was a significant decrease between some of the treatment groups and the control, except for organisms exposed to the intermediate (41.4 µg L⁻¹) and the highest concentration (165.6 µg L⁻¹) (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=118.803, p<0.001). For the second light cycle (600 to 900s), there was a significant decrease in organisms exposed to the lowest concentration (165.6 µg L⁻¹), following a directly proportional pattern of swimming time and concentration, compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=57.447, p<0.001). For the final dark period (900 to 1200s), there was only a significant decrease in individuals exposed to the lowest concentration decrease in individuals exposed to the lowest concentration (10.35 µg L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=91.117, p<0.001).



Figure 19 – Swimming time for individuals exposed to CA, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). Stands for light cycles while stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test, p<0.05).

Considering the total distance traveled by fish exposed to CA, there were significant differences between fish from all treatment groups and the control treatment, in all the light and dark periods (Figure 20). During the first light cycle (0 to 300s), there was a significant decrease in all treatment groups, compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=99.626, p<0.001). During the first dark period (300 to 600s), there was also a significant decrease, except for organisms exposed to the highest concentration (165.6 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=172.918, p<0.001). During the second light cycle (600 to 900s), there was a significant decrease, except for individuals subjected to the lowest concentration (10.35 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=53.170, p<0.001). During the second and final dark period (900 to 1200s), the pattern was similar to the first dark cycle, with a significant decrease, except for organisms exposed to the highest concentration (165.6 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=53.170, p<0.001). During the second and final dark period (900 to 1200s), the pattern was similar to the first dark cycle, with a significant decrease, except for organisms exposed to the highest concentration (165.6 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-Way ANOVA on Ranks followed by a Dunn's test: H₅=163.561, p<0.001).



Figure 20 – Total distance traveled for individuals exposed to CA, in cycles of light and dark periods. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). Stands for light cycles while stands for dark periods. * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, during the respective light or dark period (Dunn's test, p<0.05).

3.2.1.2. Biochemical results

3.2.1.2.1. Superoxide dismutase

Considering the results obtained for Cu-ZnSOD activity in fish exposed to CA, there was a significant increase, namely in animals subjected to the two highest concentrations (82.8 and 165.6 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.12}=308.926, p<0.001). MnSOD activity in the same individuals showed a significant increase, particularly in fish from the intermediate (41.4 μ g L⁻¹) and highest concentrations (165.6 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.13}=12.917, p<0.001) (Figure 21).



Figure 21 – Cu-ZnSOD activity (grey) and MnSOD activity (black) in individuals exposed to CA. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, in each SOD activity (Cu-Zn or Mn) (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.2.1.2.2. Catalase

Considering the CAT activity in fish exposed to CA, there was a significant increase for animals exposed to the second lowest concentration (20.7 μ g L⁻¹), followed by a significant decrease in fish exposed to the highest concentration (165.6 μ g L⁻¹) (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.17}=11.657, p<0.001) (Figure 22).



Figure 22 - CAT activity in individuals exposed to CA. Data are Mean \pm SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.2.1.2.3. Glutathione peroxidase

Considering the total GPx activity in fish exposed to CA, there was a significant increase for animals exposed to the intermediate concentration (41.4 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.13}=8.123, p=0.001). Considering the selenium-dependent GPx activity, there was a significant increase in organisms subjected to the intermediate (41.4 μ g L⁻¹) and highest concentrations (165.6 μ g L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.14}=7.507, p=0.001) (Figure 23).



Figure 23 – Total (black) and selenium-dependent (grey) GPx activity in individuals exposed to CA. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control, in each GPx activity (total or selenium-dependent) (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.2.1.2.4. Glutathione S-transferases

In terms of the GSTs activity obtained in fish exposed to CA, there was a significant increase for animals exposed to the second lowest (20.7 µg L⁻¹) and intermediate concentrations (41.4 µg L⁻¹), followed by a significant decrease reported in fish exposed to the highest concentration (165.6 µg L⁻¹), compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: $F_{5.13}$ =27.634, p<0.001) (Figure 24).



Figure 24 - GSTs activity in individuals exposed to CA. Data are Mean \pm SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.2.1.2.5. Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances

Considering the TBARS in fish exposed to CA, there was a significant increase in animals exposed to the intermediate (41.4 μ g L⁻¹) and highest concentrations (165.6 μ g L⁻¹) compared with control (One-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test: F_{5.14}=11.036, p<0.001) (Figure 25).



Figure 25 – TBARS in individuals exposed to CA. Data are Mean±SE (n=20 fish/treatment). * Stands for significant differences among treatments, compared with control (Dunnett's test, p<0.05).

3.2.2. Chronic exposure

3.2.2.1. Sex determination

Taking into consideration the visual inspection of the HE glass slides of gonadal tissue, and following appropriate statistical treatment, no significant differences were found between individuals exposed to CA, in terms of sex determination (χ^2 =7.204, df=5, p=0.206) (Figure 26).



Figure 26 – Sex ratio (percentage of males and females) in individuals exposed to CA (n=20 fish/treatment).

3.2.2.2. Gonadal developmental stages

Only four of the six stages of maturation were identified in females exposed to CA, namely immature phase, early developing subphase, developing phase and spawning capable phase (Figure 27).



Figure 27 – Histological architecture in terms of maturation stages of females in different treatment groups exposed to CA (n=10 fish/treatment). (A) Immature phase at 165.6 μ g L⁻¹, with primary growth oocytes (arrow) (200x); (B) Early developing subphase in the control group, with cortical alveolar oocyte (arrow) (200x); (C) Developing phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with primary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x); and (D) Spawning capable phase at 10.35 μ g L⁻¹, with tertiary vitellogenic oocyte (arrow) (200x).

Moreover, for individuals exposed to CA, no significant differences were found, in terms of maturation stages (G=0.662, df=15, p=1) (Figure 28).



Figure 28 – Female developmental stage in individuals exposed to CA (n=10 fish/treatment).

Only two of the six stages of maturation were identified in males exposed to CA, namely the developing phase and spawning capable phase (Figure 29).





Figure 29 – Histological architecture in terms of maturation stages of spermatocytes identified in different treatment groups exposed to CA (n=10 fish/treatment). **(A) Developing phase** at 20.7 µg L^{-1} , with primary spermatocyte (arrowhead) and secondary spermatocyte (arrow) (400x); and **(B) Spawning capable phase** in the control group, with spermatids (arrowhead) and spermatozoa (arrow) (400x).

Taking into consideration the observation of male developmental stages in individuals exposed to CA, no significant differences were found, in terms of maturation stages (G=0.753, df=5, p=0.979) (Figure 30).



Figure 30 – Male developmental stage in individuals exposed to CA (n=10 fish/treatment).

4. DISCUSSION

4.1. Simvastatin

4.1.1. Behavioral assessment

To our knowledge, there are no previous data from the literature regarding the effects of simvastatin in locomotor ability in early life stages of zebrafish in response to stimulation in light-dark transition.

According to the results obtained for small distance traveled, in individuals exposed to SIM, the general patterns observed were a decrease in the first light period, an increase in the first dark cycle, and a decrease in the second light and dark periods, compared with the control group. Regarding the results obtained in terms of large distance traveled in individuals exposed to SIM, the overall patterns reported were an increase in the first light period, a decrease in the first dark cycle and an increase in the second light and dark periods, compared with control organisms. Overall, small and large distance traveled seem to have a proportionally inverse relation. Generally, small distance traveled (or small movements) decreased in individuals exposed to SIM, compared with control, while large distance traveled increased.

According to the results obtained for swimming time in individuals exposed to SIM, the general patterns observed were a decrease in the first light cycle, an increase in the first dark period, relatively similar values in the second light cycle and an increase in the second dark period, compared with control.

Regarding the results of total distance traveled in individuals exposed to SIM, the overall pattern reported was an increase in the first light and dark cycles, relatively similar values in the second light period, and an increase in the second dark cycle, compared with the control group.

Overall, there was a decrease in erratic movements (small distance) and an increase in the traveled large distance. In terms of swimming time and total distance traveled, even though there were significant differences in the organisms exposed to SIM.

As mentioned before, statins can inhibit HMG-CoA reductase, the rate-limiting enzyme in the mevalonic acid pathway (Santos et al., 2016). This pathway produces five-

carbon building blocks that lead to the formation of isoprenoids, e.g., coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10). In turn, CoQ10 is responsible for the production of ATP in various organs, that require a major demand for energy (Pasha & Moon, 2017). Thus, statins can lead to a decrease in the production of CoQ10, consequently leading to a decrease in the input of energy used for movement, such as evidenced in the parameter small distance traveled. Campos et al. (2016) also reported decreasing movement in zebrafish embryos exposed to SIM in the range of 0.3 nM to 10 μ M. It was inferred in this assay, that the decrease in locomotion can also be due to tissue damage, particularly in muscles (Campos et al., 2016). It was evidenced by a recent study that, even in low concentrations, SIM can affect cytoskeleton and adhesion structures involved in myogenesis, by affecting cholesterol withdrawal (Campos et al., 2015). This effect occurs since cholesterol has structural and signaling functions in myogenesis. The capacity for the reduction in cholesterol levels by the exposure to SIM seems to induce a reduction in the amount of extracellular (laminin) and intracellular (vinculin and desmin) components present in the myofibrils, the composing subunits of muscles cells, which leads to shortening and thickening of its structure. SIM can also induce a reduction in the number of differentiated muscle cells (Campos et al., 2015). However, the decrease in small distance and increase in large distance in this assay suggest a reduction of anxiety-like behavior. Some pharmaceuticals with antioxidant properties, such as SIM, are known to decrease erratic movements of individuals, such as in this case, through the reduction of stress and anxiety-like behavior (Bouayed, 2011; Hassan et al., 2014; De Carvalho et al., 2019).

However, individuals showed also an increase in swimming time, as well as increased total distance traveled, which means that they spent more time swimming, while more distance was traveled. This indicates that simvastatin could have caused an increase in the overall activity of the organisms exposed. As mentioned before, simvastatin can increase the β -oxidation of fatty acids (Park et al., 2016). The increasing degradation of fatty acids leads to a higher input of energy in the individuals, leading to more locomotion (Orton & Parker, 1982). The metabolism of fatty acids can influence the behaviour of individuals, including fertilization and growth rate in zebrafish (Spence et al., 2008). Overall, data from behavioural analysis suggests that simvastatin potentiates the

locomotion of individuals, leading also to a decrease in erratic movements (small distance).

After 96h and when exposed to alternating light and dark periods, zebrafish larvae should present increased movement in the dark and decreased in the light (Maximino et al., 2010). However, in this essay, regarding total distance traveled and swimming time, the effect was the opposite, i.e., there was a decrease in movement in dark periods, compared with light periods (Burgess & Granato, 2007). The maturation of the zebrafish larvae blood-brain barrier occurs between 3 dpf and 10 dpf (Fleming et al., 2013). Statins have hydrophilic and hydrophobic areas, being classified as amphiphilic drugs (Tsinman et al., 2011). The hydrophobic region interacts with membrane phospholipids. On the other hand, this type of substance does not require specific transport to cross membranes, being soluble in aqueous biological fluids and membranes, diffusing through the individual (Fong, 2014). SIM is mostly characterized as a lipophilic statin, which has a higher risk of neurological and neurocognitive alterations because of its capacity to cross the blood-brain barrier (Fong, 2014). Lipids are vital for brain function, as the decrease in serum lipid levels can affect the formation of the myelin sheath, neuronal cell membranes, and synapses (McFarland et al., 2014). It has been demonstrated in Oreochromis niloticus, that the reduction of cholesterol levels by statins, can affect the structure of neural cells and neurochemical processes, by compromising the effectiveness of the central serotonergic system, leading to behavioral changes (Aguiar & Giaquinto, 2018). A feature already described for fish, altering their capacity to distinguish between light and dark cycles, can be due to neuronal and metabolic disruption, such as mentioned. Overall and considering all the behaviour endpoints determined in this study, simvastatin seemed to increase locomotion in the individuals exposed, especially large distance traveled, and reduce anxiety like-behaviour (small distance).

Moreover, there was a discrepancy between the observed effects when animals were exposed to lower and higher doses of SIM in terms of behavioral assessment, i.e., in fish subjected to lower doses, parameters such as small distance, large distance, and total distance traveled, as well as swimming time, were significantly decreased; while in animals exposed to higher concentrations, there was an increase, compared with control,

52

of such parameters. Dahl et al. (2006) studied growth-related sublethal endpoints in harpacticoid copepods, which can affect the locomotion of individuals. In this study, it was suggested that differences between effects in low and high concentrations can be due to different ecotoxicological modes of action of SIM, i.e., effects at higher concentrations (5 to 16 μ g L⁻¹) seem to be related to energy-mediated processes, while effects in terms of endocrine disruption seem to affect the individuals in lower concentrations (<1.6 μ g L⁻¹).

4.1.2. Biochemical assessment

As mentioned before, superoxide dismutase (SOD) can have three different forms: extracellular, MnSOD in the mitochondria, and Cu-Zn SOD in the cytoplasm (Lumb, 2017). It constitutes a primary protection system against ROS, particularly superoxide (O_2^{-}), and its activity results in the production of H_2O_2 and molecular oxygen (Hayyan et al., 2016).

According to the results obtained, there were no significant differences in MnSOD activity, while Cu-Zn SOD activity was significantly decreased, except for individuals exposed to 92.45 ng L⁻¹, comparing to the control. Cunha et al. (2016) also reported a decrease in SOD activity in zebrafish embryos exposed to 5 to 50 μ g L⁻¹ SIM. The decreasing activity of Cu-Zn SOD can be due to the antioxidant properties and synergism of SIM with antioxidants. It has been hypothesized that the mechanisms underlying these properties of SIM may be due to the inhibition of oxidant formation (NADPH-oxidase) and the increase in bioavailability of nitric oxide that can neutralize radicals (Stoll et al., 2004). The increase in antioxidant defenses, reduces significantly the quantity of ROS, leading to a decrease in antioxidant enzymes activity (Strzyzewski et al., 2013). Statins can decrease the production of superoxide anion through a direct effect on the enzyme's structure and consequently its function, thus reducing SOD activity (Delbosc et al., 2002; Wassmann et al., 2001). Decreased SOD activity can also be a response to increased production of H₂O₂ and O₂⁻, by autooxidation of excess glucose and nonenzymatic glycation of proteins (Aragno et al., 1997). Moreover, hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide can lead to partial inactivation of SOD (Pigeolet et al., 1990).

53

As mentioned before, CAT ensures the removal of hydrogen peroxide from the organism (Lumb, 2017). It constitutes an antioxidant defense, located in the peroxisomes, by reducing H₂O₂ and molecular oxygen (Aebi, 1984; Modesto & Martinez, 2010). Regarding the results obtained in terms of CAT activity in individuals exposed to SIM, no significant differences were found, compared with control. The results from this study are not in agreement with previously reported data, where exposure to SIM caused an increase in CAT activity, in humans (Kaminsky et al., 2010; Piechota-Polanczyk et al., 2012). De Sotomayor et al. (2005) suggested that HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, such as SIM, inhibit the gp91 phox-containing NADPH oxidase, which is involved in the generation of superoxide anions, and in turn increases CAT activity. In this case, and considering the absence of increase of CAT activity, the formation of H₂O₂ seems not to have been favoured by the exposure to SIM, despite previous indications. The antioxidant properties of SIM allied to the absence of production of H_2O_2 , related to the inhibition of SOD activity, can explain the obtained results (Strzyzewski et al., 2013). The lack of significant results in our study can also be due to the duration of exposure used in our assay, justifying the contradictions in relation to other studies from the literature, which indicated an increase in CAT activity, conducted in humans (De Sotomayor et al., 2005; Piechota-Polanczyk et al., 2012). It was also suggested by Federici et al. (2007) that the absence of significant differences may be due to the capacity of the here used organism to use other antioxidant enzymes to avoid oxidative stress, namely GPx, to counteract H₂O₂ levels.

As mentioned above, GPx acts in a wider range of substrates when compared to CAT, reducing organic peroxides, unlike CAT, and reactive oxygen species originated by lipid peroxidation (Cohen & Hochstein, 1963; Flohé, 1985; Tappel, 1984). However, selenium-dependent GPx can reduce H₂O₂, while non-selenium dependent GPx does not (Battello, 2016). GPx selenium-dependent converts H₂O₂ and reduced glutathione into water and oxidized glutathione (Blondet et al., 2018).

According to the results obtained in individuals exposed to SIM, in terms of GPx total activity, there was a significant decrease at 184.9, 369.8, 739.6 and 1479.2 ng L⁻¹, while in the GPx selenium-dependent activity there was a significant increase in

individuals at 92.45 ng L⁻¹, compared with control. Some studies demonstrate that the exposure to SIM leads to a decrease in GPx total activity, in very distinct animal models, in organisms such as rodents (mg kg⁻¹) (Srinivasa Rao et al., 2012) and humans (10 mg day⁻¹ during 8 months) (Ungureanu et al., 2003). The significant decrease in GPx total activity corroborates the above-mentioned results in terms of the antioxidant properties of SIM (Strzyzewski et al., 2013), which may contribute to a reduction of the activity of antioxidant enzymes, including GPx. Moreover, while CAT is present in the peroxisomes, GPx is located in the cytoplasm. Such as in the case of MnSOD, mostly found in the mitochondria, CAT activity was not significantly different from the individuals of the control group, which suggests that SIM did not act in the mitochondria to generate oxidative stress (Modesto & Martinez, 2010).

As far as we know, there are no studies regarding GPx selenium-dependent in aquatic organisms exposed to statins. The significant increase in selenium-dependent GPx activity in individuals exposed to the lowest concentration of SIM could represent an increase in H_2O_2 levels. However, in higher concentrations, the two mechanisms mentioned before, i.e. the inhibition of NADPH-oxidase and the increase of nitric oxide levels, could have lead to a decrease in ROS, including H_2O_2 , which in turn produced non-significant results in GPx selenium-dependent activity above this concentration.

As mentioned before, GSTs are responsible for the conjugation of reduced glutathione with electrophilic centers present in endogenous and exogenous compounds, leading to the formation of hydrophilic compounds, that can be partially metabolized and excreted (Bradford, 1976; Modesto & Martinez, 2010).

According to the obtained results, individuals exposed to SIM experienced a significant decrease in GSTs activity, compared with control organisms. Apart from Cunha et al. (2016), that reported an increase in GSTs activity in zebrafish embryos after exposure to SIM, to the best of our knowledge, there are no other studies that investigate this enzyme's activity in aquatic organisms exposed to SIM. However, other studies have reported similar results to those encountered in this study, where GSTs levels decreased, namely in human patients with pancreatic damage, when treated with SIM (Matalka et al., 2013; Prokop'eva & Gulyaeva, 2000). There is evidence that in phase 2 of metabolism,

SIM undergoes glucuronidation, i.e., glucuronic acid conjugation by UDPglucuronosyltransferases (UGTs) (Prueksaritanont et al., 2002), which leads to the conclusion that SIM probably is not metabolized via GSTs. So, SIM should not be metabolized in *D. rerio* via GSTs.

Alternatively, the role of GSTs is not entirely related to phase II (conjugation) metabolism, since GSTs can also prevent the interaction of xenobiotics with nucleic acids and proteins, also protecting against oxidative stress and damage (Dzoyem et al., 2014; Rahman, 2007; Smith et al., 2013). GSTs are thus antioxidant enzymatic forms that play a protective role. The lack of modification of GSTs levels reinforces the previously made assumption, concerning the putative absence of clear pro-oxidative effects. In that way, as it was mentioned before for SOD and GPx enzymes activity, the antioxidant properties of SIM could have led to the hereby observed results.

As mentioned before, oxidative damage can lead to lipid peroxidation, where free radicals interact with lipids containing carbon-carbon double bonds, particularly polyunsaturated fatty acids (Halliwell, 2009; Sies, 1985). Considering the results obtained for lipid peroxidation there was a significant decrease in this parameter in individuals exposed to SIM in levels of 184.9, 369.8, 739.6 and 1479.2 ng.¹ L, compared with control. As far as we know, there are only a few studies that investigated lipid peroxidation, being in the context of treatment of a specific condition with statins and conducted only in humans and rodents. Some of these studies reported a decrease in lipid peroxidation, through oral administration of SIM, at dosages of 10 mg kg⁻¹ (Mohamadin et al., 2011) and administration of 20 mg day⁻¹ during 4 to 12 weeks (Broncel et al., 2006), both studies were conducted in humans. The decrease in lipid peroxidation can allow inferring the decrease in ROS levels, through the alteration in the process of interaction of free radicals with polyunsaturated fatty acids, leading to a decrease in malondialdehyde-like compounds. Compounds with antioxidant properties, such as SIM, have been shown to lead to less oxidative damage linked to lipid peroxidation (Venturini et al., 2010; Golbidi et al., 2011).

4.1.3. Sex determination and gonadal developmental stages

This study was conducted with the primary goal of understanding the potential impacts of chronic and acute exposure of simvastatin and clofibric acid in *Danio rerio*. The number of studies about the toxicity of simvastatin in aquatic species in terms of endocrine disruption is scarce (Dahl et al., 2006; Neuparth et al., 2014), and none of them was performed with *Danio rerio*.

Zebrafish gonadal differentiation initiates with a juvenile ovary (Liew & Orbán, 2014). In zebrafish, genetic sex-determining systems, as well as environmental factors seem to regulate the gender of the individuals (Devlin & Nagahama, 2002; Liew et al., 2012), such as dissolved oxygen (hypoxia) (Shang et al., 2006) and temperature (Abozaid et al., 2011; Abozaid et al., 2012; Uchida et al., 2004). At 15 dpf, the juvenile ovary develops into ovaries or testes (Pradhan & Olsson, 2016).

According to the results obtained in terms of sex determination in individuals exposed to SIM, no significant differences were found between groups. As far as we know, no studies were yet conducted in terms of sex ratio in organisms exposed to this pharmaceutical. However, a few studies reported development disruption in *Gammarus* locusta (Neuparth et al., 2014) and harpacticoid copepods (Dahl et al., 2006). HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, such as statins, are thought to affect sex hormone biosynthesis, by inhibition of synthesis of cholesterol, a precursor of estradiol and androstenedione (Ser et al., 2010). LDLs biosynthesis seems also to be affected by statins. As mentioned before, HMG-CoA reductase catalyzes the conversion of HMG-CoA into mevalonic acid. In that way, SIM's inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase leads to a decrease in the production of LDL (Rang et al., 2007). LDL is mainly a precursor for ovarian steroid biosynthesis (Vandeputte et al., 2007). Thus, statins properties of reduction of LDL can result in a decrease in sex hormones, such as androgens and estrogens (Pradhan & Olsson, 2016). In zebrafish, estrogen induces ovarian differentiation and maintains femaleness in adulthood, while androgen induces testicular differentiation (Pradhan & Olsson, 2016). This means that exposure to statins could cause a disruption in the development and gonadal differentiation of individuals. Considering the lack of significant results in terms of sex determination, and the differences from the results of this assay from others in terms of

the development of individuals exposed to SIM, we can assume that major differences in terms of development alterations may be due to the distinct levels tested. Development changes may only be attained when SIM is present in high levels, such as in these investigations, where SIM was used at mg L⁻¹ range, well above the ecologically relevant concentrations to which zebrafish were exposed in this assay (ng L⁻¹ range). Moreover, taxonomic differences between the tested species and those used in the above-mentioned investigations could also lead to differences in terms of endocrine disruption.

As far as we know, there are no assays that investigate particularly gonadal maturation after exposure to statins. Zebrafish is an asynchronously spawning fish, which means that oocytes and spermatocytes can be observed at various stages of development in each individual, which in turn characterize each maturation stage (Okuthe et al., 2014). As mentioned before, SIM can decrease LDL levels, which can lead to a decrease in sex hormones, such as estrogen and androgen. Estrogen levels can alter gonadotropin secretion, which regulates oocyte maturation (Nagahama et al., 1995), while androgens stimulate spermatogenesis, i.e., spermatocyte maturation (Singh et al., 1995). Previous investigations have shown that statins can interfere with the reproductive development of individuals and are able to decrease testosterone levels (Bustan et al., 2017; Leite et al., 2014). Given the lack of results in terms of gonadal maturation phases in females and males exposed to SIM, we can assume that SIM did not have any effect in terms of reproductive disruption. Although the concentrations used in this assay were based on the maximum level found in effluents from WWTPs in Portugal, the range used was at ng L⁻¹, which compared to previous studies, might have been a low dosage to produce endocrine disruption effects. Moreover, SIM does not seem to have reproductive disruption effects, in terms of sex ratio and maturation stages.

Considering all the above-mentioned results, in terms of behavior, biochemical assessment, and reproductive disruption, in individuals exposed to SIM, we can conclude that this compound, in these particular conditions, caused alterations in the first two parameters determined, namely behavior and biochemical biomarkers. In terms of

58

behavioural alterations, SIM does not seem to have a well-defined mechanism of action, as behavioural alterations may derive from various sources, as mentioned before. Locomotion changes seem to be potentially due to alterations in energy deficits (biosynthesis of ATP) and neuronal changes, altering movement patterns. On the other hand, the biochemical assessment revealed decreasing activity in several enzyme activities, such as Cu-Zn SOD, GPx total activity, GSTs, and TBARS. The antioxidant properties of SIM might explain this phenomenon, since the presence of an antioxidant drug (such as SIM), may counteract the overproduction of ROS, consequently conducting to a decrease in the activity of antioxidant enzymes. In that way, the mechanisms behind these two biomarkers (behavior and biochemical) do not seem to have a relationship with one another. Reproductive disruption through changes in sex ratio and maturation stages of individuals exposed to SIM did not reveal any significant differences, compared with the control group. The ability of SIM to lower LDL levels should reduce the production of sex hormones, such as estrogen and androgen, which ultimately should lead to a lower number of juvenile females, through the decrease in estrogen, responsible for the maintenance of femaleness in adulthood. However, this outcome was not reported. Moreover, a lower concentration of estrogen and androgen should also lead to a decrease in ovarian and testicular differentiation, which should be translated in terms of maturation stages of individuals. Again, effects of this nature were not observed after exposing *D. rerio* to SIM under the proposed conditions.

4.2. Clofibric acid

4.2.1. Behavioral assessment

As mentioned before, fibrates can interact with hepatic PPARs, that regulate β oxidation of fatty acids (Michalik et al., 2006). As far as we know, there are no previous investigations regarding the effects of clofibric acid in locomotor ability in early life stages of zebrafish in response to stimulation in light-dark transition.

According to the results obtained for small distance traveled in individuals exposed to CA, the general patterns observed were an increase in the first light period, an

increase in the first dark cycle and a decrease in the second light and dark periods, compared with control.

Regarding the results for large distance traveled in individuals exposed to CA, the overall pattern reported was a decrease in all light and dark cycles, compared with control organisms. Energy deficits can cause a decrease in more "vigorous movements" as shown by Henriques et al. (2016) in zebrafish exposed to gemfibrozil.

According to the results obtained in terms of swimming time in organisms exposed to CA, the general patterns observed were: relatively similar values in the first light cycle, a decrease in the first dark period, and similar values also for the second light and dark cycle, compared with the control group. Considering the results in terms of total distance traveled in individuals exposed to CA, the overall pattern reported was a decrease in all light and dark periods, compared with control. Overall, individuals exposed to CA spent more time swimming, however, comparing to the total distance traveled, we can assume that organisms swam slower, even though they had more activity than the control group. Overall, behavioral effects may result from CA's mode of action which resulted in a delay in the development, directly affecting the physiology and capacity of the individual to mobilize nutrients (energy) needed for movements. However, behavior changes in locomotor activities depend on various physiological systems (Scott & Sloman, 2004; Tierney, 2011). Behavior disruption detected for clofibric acid can, therefore, be derived from various sources. Substances that alter the metabolism of nutrients during development, such as CA, through changes in beta-oxidation pathways, can have relevant consequences on organogenesis (Embrandiri et al., 2016; Henriques et al., 2016). CA interacts with hepatic PPARs, leading to an increase of β -oxidation of fatty acids, and consequently to an increment in energy, that can be translated in higher activity of individuals, which did not happen in this case, maybe because of the short period of exposure to which animals were subjected (Kawashima et al., 1985). As lipid regulator, CA may delay embryo development, being more evident at 120 hpf, which can compromise the swimming ability of larvae (Henriques et al., 2016). The delayed consumption of the yolk sac can also delay the swim bladder inflation and gut morphogenesis, compromising locomotor ability (Raldúa et al., 2008). The inhibition of mobilization of nutrients and

energy from the yolk sac, as well as the decrease in lipoprotein levels by exposure to CA, may limit the capacity for locomotion (Raldúa et al., 2008).

The discrepancy between animals exposed to lower and higher doses, with a decrease followed by an increase in behavioral traits, maybe due to a delay in development in larvae exposed to higher doses of CA, which can lead to repercussions in locomotor behavior, as it has been described for gemfibrozil by Henriques et al. (2016).

4.2.2. Biochemical assessment

According to the results obtained in terms of Cu-Zn SOD activity, there was a significant increase in animals exposed to 82.8 and 165.6 µg L⁻¹, while MnSOD activity was also significantly increased at 41.4 and 165.6 µg L⁻¹, compared with control. Except for some studies with Cyprinus carpio (Corcoran et al., 2015) and Artemia parthenogenetica (Nunes et al., 2006), in which SOD activity was not altered, as far as we know, there are only a few number of studies that reported similar results in terms of SOD activity, namely in *Gambusia holbrooki exposed* to CA at a mg L⁻¹ range during 96h (Nunes et al., 2008). Oxygen is consumed in several cellular locations such as the mitochondria, endoplasmatic reticulum and peroxisomes, where oxygen is reduced into hydrogen peroxide, which is further reduced to H₂O (Schrader & Fahimi, 2006). The high consumption of molecular oxygen, allied with the production of hydrogen peroxide and other free radicals, and the presence of various ROS-metabolizing enzymes, make peroxisomes a very important organelle in the production and scavenging of ROS, in particular, H₂O₂ (Schrader & Fahimi, 2006). β-oxidation of fatty acids also contributes to the generation of H₂O₂, which is mainly reduced by CAT into water and molecular oxygen (Boveris et al., 1972). The metabolic activity of peroxisomal oxidases leads to the production of ROS (Schrader & Fahimi, 2006). As clofibric acid is a peroxisome proliferator, it can cause an increase in peroxisome proliferation and β-oxidation of fatty acids, leading to the hyperproduction of ROS (Goel et al., 1986; Qu et al., 2001). In that way, CA can increase superoxide levels, which in turn increases SOD activity, which reduces superoxide into H₂O₂ and O₂.

Considering the results obtained in terms of CAT activity, there was a significant increase in test organisms exposed to 20.7 μ g L⁻¹, followed by a significant decrease at 165.6 μ g L⁻¹, compared with the control group. Several studies also reported an increase in CAT activity in individuals exposed to fibrates (Jones & Neill, 1982; Klucis et al., 1984; Yang et al., 1990). CAT has been used as an indicative parameter of peroxisome proliferation, that constitutes an antioxidant defense, located in the peroxisomes (Aebi, 1984; Modesto & Martinez, 2010). As a peroxisome proliferator, CA can induce CAT (Schrader & Fahimi, 2006). It has been suggested that peroxisome proliferators induce the hyperproduction of ROS, in particular, H₂O₂, which justifies the increase in CAT activity (Yeldandi et al., 2000). However, there was a decrease in CAT activity in animals exposed to the highest concentration of CA, which could suggest that other antioxidant defenses (such as GPx) could have been involved in the reduction of H₂O₂ concentrations, leading to lower levels of this peroxide in this case.

According to the results obtained in terms of total GPx activity, there was a significant increase at 41.4 μ g L⁻¹, while selenium-dependent GPx activity reported a significant increase at 41.4 and 165.6 μ g L⁻¹. To our knowledge, there are only a few studies that report effects in terms of GPx activity in organisms exposed to clofibric acid, and only some reported an increase in GPx total activity after exposure to ciprofibrate in different subcellular compartments (Dhaunsi, 1994), and an increase in GPx selenium-dependent in rodents exposed to gemfibrozil (O'Brien et al., 2001). On the other hand, there was also a study with *Gambusia holbrooki* that reported a significant inhibition of GPx in fish exposed to clofibric acid at the mg L⁻¹ range (Nunes et al., 2008). As CA can stimulate beta-oxidation of fatty acids, with the release of hydrogen peroxide and superoxide, as well as other ROS, GPx increase may intend to reduce the levels of hydrogen peroxide (Perevoshchikova et al., 2013).

Considering the results obtained in terms of GSTs activity, there was a significant increase in fish exposed to 20.7 and 41.4 μ g L⁻¹ of CA, followed by a decrease at 165.6 μ g L⁻¹, compared with the control group. There are only a few studies that report similar results as the ones observed, in organisms exposed to bezafibrate and gemfibrozil, such as *Mytilus galloprovincialis* at ng g⁻¹ range (Canesi et al., 2007) and in *Cyprinus carpio*

62

exposed to clofibric acid at µg and mg^{.1} L, where the expression of genes encoding GSTs increased (Corcoran et al., 2015). While GPx is more efficient in scavenging H₂O₂, GSTs have more affinity with other organic peroxides (Mannervik & Guthenberg, 1981; Levander, 1992). Moreover, H₂O₂ production in peroxisomes can also lead to the formation of other organic peroxides (Mennes et al., 1994). Thus, the increase in CAT activity can be related to an excess of H₂O₂, which in turn produces organic peroxides, which can also increase GSTs activity. GSTs are mainly enzymes of phase II biotransformation, as they can also indirectly infer oxidative stress. However, there is evidence that in phase II of metabolism, CA undergoes glucuronidation in fish, which may indicate that this compound is not metabolized strictly via GSTs (Walmsley, 1985). GSTs can also detoxify some of the secondary ROS formed when ROS reacts with cells. The oxidation of membranes generates toxic reactive compounds that GSTs are able to conjugate with glutathione (Veal et al., 2002). Three metabolites have been identified for clofibric acid: hydroxyisobutyric acid, lactic acid and 4-chlorophenol (Salgado et al., 2012). 4-chlorophenol is known to induce GSTs activity as well as the production of ROS (Tamburro et al., 2004), which may explain the hereby obtained results.

Regarding the results obtained in terms of lipid peroxidation, there was a significant increase in fish exposed to levels of 41.4 and 165.6 µg L⁻¹, when compared to the control. Some studies have reported similar results in terms of lipid peroxidation in rodents exposed to ciprofibrate (Goel et al., 1986) and in *Gambusia holbrooki* exposed to clofibric acid (Nunes et al., 2008). Clofibric acid and other peroxisome proliferators increase beta-oxidation of fatty acids and peroxidation (Goel et al., 1986). Antioxidant defenses prevent the formation of ROS and prevent lipid peroxidation and DNA damage (Livingstone, 2003). However, oxidative stress can still arise, leading to lipid peroxidation. In this case, the results obtained seem to be due to the hyperproduction of ROS, as a consequence of the lack of capacity to neutralize oxidative stress through the previous oxidative stress preventive measures, resulting in peroxidative damage.

4.2.3. Sex determination and gonadal developmental stages

To our knowledge, there are few studies that report endocrine disruption in aquatic organisms exposed to clofibric acid, and none report the exposure of this pharmaceutical in *D. rerio*. As mentioned before, the fibrate's main function is to reduce VLDL and triglycerides, which reduces LDL and increases HDL. They are PPAR α agonists, which activate lipoprotein lipase and decreases VLDL (Rang et al., 2007). Clofibric acid is the hydrolyzed form of clofibrate, being the active metabolite that circulates in plasma and believed to be responsible for the hypolipidemic properties of clofibrate (Daughton & Ternes, 1999).

According to the results obtained in terms of sex determination in individuals exposed to CA, no significant differences were found, compared with control. However, there are contradictory results, compared with other investigations, that report endocrine disruption (Runnalls et al., 2007; Coimbra et al., 2015). Apparently, fibrates can have estrogenic activity (Isidori et al., 2009), as there was a dose-dependent decrease of plasma testosterone in Carassius auratus exposed to 1.5 and 1500 g L⁻¹ (Mimeault et al., 2006). This would mean a decrease in the number of males and an increase in the number of females. Fibrates, being PPARα ligands, can affect reproduction indirectly. They can interfere with biosynthesis and breakdown of cholesterol and fatty acids, which alters the availability of cholesterol for the production of steroids (Cameron et al., 2011; Velasco-Santamaría et al., 2011; Manibusan & Touart, 2017). Fibrates seem to impact in cholesterol movement, by interfering in the release of cAMP and the mitochondrial transport of cholesterol, limiting steps of steroidogenesis (Gazouli et al., 2002; Cameron et al., 2011). There was also a study that reported a male-biased population in individuals exposed to CA at 1 and 10 mg g⁻¹ (through food) (Coimbra et al., 2015). This evidence could suggest that the exposure to CA would cause a disruption in development and, therefore, in gonadal differentiation of individuals. Considering the lack of significant results in terms of sex determination, and the differences from the results of this assay from others in terms of reproductive disruption in individuals exposed to CA, we can assume that major differences in terms of development alterations may be due to the variations in concentrations, exposure and model organisms tested.

Considering the results obtained in terms of female and male developmental stages, there were also no significant differences, compared with control. However, other studies reported different results in terms of female maturation stages, where there was a suppression of the expression of genes involved in steroidogenesis by exposure to fibrates (Toda et al., 2003). Ovarian follicle development is composed of two phases: follicular growth, where the immature oocyte grows in size, and a maturation stage, where immature oocytes transition into a mature egg (Selman et al., 1993). According to (Ibabe et al., 2005), there are three PPARs (α , β , and γ) in the zebrafish ovary. Their expression decreases follicular growth and maturation (Komar et al., 2001; Komar, 2005). As PPAR α agonists, fibrates can alter these processes (Rang et al., 2007). PPARs in Sertoli and Leydig cells seem to have a role in spermatogenesis and to be directly involved in maturation (Ibabe et al., 2005). Thus, PPAR ligands can affect spermatogenesis and sperm activities (Huang, 2008).

Differences in terms of tested organisms, duration of exposure and concentrations may explain the lack of results in terms of female and male maturation stages, after exposure to CA.

Considering all the above-mentioned results, in terms of behavior, biochemical assessment, and reproductive disruption, for individuals exposed to CA, we can conclude that this compound, in these particular conditions, caused alterations in the first two biomarkers (behavior and biochemical) determined.

In terms of behavioral alterations and according with the information mentioned before, the decrease in activity seems to be related to the lack of nutrient mobilization and energy, with lower lipoprotein levels, that were reflected in delayed development of the individual, and consequently of its swimming ability. (Handy et al., 1999), also reported that metabolic costs due to detoxification processes can also compromise locomotory responses of individuals, which could also explain the behavioral changes observed. On the other hand, the biochemical assessment revealed increased activity in several enzyme activities, such as SOD, CAT, GPx, which constitutes evidence for oxidative stress. Moreover, GSTs increased activity also suggests the occurrence of conjugation and biotransformation (phase II) and the increase in lipid peroxidation levels (TBARS) indicate peroxidative damage in individuals. As mentioned before, the metabolic activity of peroxisomal oxidases leads to the hyperproduction of ROS. Moreover, CA can produce three metabolites, being one of them 4-chlorophenol, which is also known to induce the production of ROS. In that way, the increase in ROS levels leads to an increase in antioxidant enzyme activity. Reproductive disruption through changes in sex ratio and maturation stages of individuals exposed to CA did not reveal any significant differences, compared with the control group. As a PPAR ligand, CA should be able to affect spermatogenesis, as well as follicular growth and maturation, which does not seem to have happened in this case.

5. CONCLUSION

Ecotoxicological data for lipid-regulating drugs, such as simvastatin, are still lacking, and these drugs have only been confusingly characterized in terms of modes of action and consequences in aquatic organisms. This assay provided information about the ecotoxicity of two lipid-regulating drugs, simvastatin, and clofibric acid, in both embryonic and juvenile stages of *D. rerio*, which are of ecological relevance. Results from this study prove that zebrafish early-life stages and juvenile individuals can serve as model organisms in ecotoxicological assays (Scholz et al., 2008; Lammer et al., 2009). This species is easy to maintain, and behavioral responses can be monitored with high precision. Ecotoxicity assessment can be easily determined in zebrafish larvae, which makes it a relevant tool for this type of investigation. Lipid-regulating drugs, such as those used in this assay, are still lacking and confusingly characterized in terms of modes of action and consequences in aquatic organisms.

Overall, zebrafish larvae were more sensitive to the exposure to clofibric acid, which showed hypoactivity and prooxidant effects, while simvastatin caused hyperactivity, and antioxidant effects. Thus, oxidative stress responses, as well as lipid peroxidation effects, seem to be related to behavioral changes in individuals. In terms of reproductive disruption, no evident alterations were reported after the here-defined exposure conditions to both compounds.

Statins and fibrates have different properties, including their mechanism of action and especially metabolism, which could explain the distinct results obtained for both compounds. The results here obtained, with concentrations of ecological relevance of these two pharmaceuticals, can suggest deleterious effects in non-target individuals. Further investigations with other methods for endocrine disruption assessment in adult individuals exposed to simvastatin and clofibric acid, e.g. the quantification of vitellogenin content, should be relevant to determine the role of these lipid-lowering drugs in the reproductive disruption, if there is one. Moreover, cholinesterase activity could be a good endpoint to determine if there is a relationship between these enzymes activity and behavioral effects in both compounds. In summary, this assay contributes to a better understanding of the effects of these lipidregulating drugs, often present in the aquatic compartment, on zebrafish individuals. The tools here developed, overall seem to be highly responsive and may be relevant in the ecotoxicological assessment of xenobiotics in the aquatic environment.

6. REFERENCES

- Abozaid, H., Wessels, S., & Hörstgen-Schwark, G. (2011). Effect of rearing temperatures during embryonic development on the phenotypic sex in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Sexual Development*, *5*(5), 259–265. https://doi.org/10.1159/000330120
- Abozaid, H., Wessels, S., & Hörstgen-Schwark, G. (2012). Elevated temperature applied during gonadal transformation leads to male bias in Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Sexual Development*, 6(4), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1159/000336297
- Abu El-Saad, A. M., & Elgerbed, M. S. (2010). Dimethoate-Induced Hepatotoxicity in Rats and the Protective Roles of Vitamin E and N-Acetylcysteine. *THE EGYPTIAN JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL BIOLOGY (Zoology), 6*(2), 219–230. Retrieved from https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/DIMETHOATE-INDUCED-HEPATOTOXICITY-IN-RATS-AND-THE-E-Elgerbed/e3aac847f4ab7237a0dffe61085255e8907905d4
- Aebi, H. (1984). Catalase in Vitro. *Methods in Enzymology*, *105*, 121–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(84)05016-3
- Aguiar, A., & Giaquinto, P. C. (2018). Low cholesterol is not always good: Low cholesterol levels are associated with decreased serotonin and increased aggression in fish. *Biology Open*, 7(12), bio030981. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.030981
- Alarfaj, N. A., Aly, F. A., & El-Tohamy, M. (2012). Electrochemical sensors for direct determination of simvastatin in pharmaceutical formulations and biological fluids. *Journal of the Chilean Chemical Society*, 57(2), 1140–1146. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0717-97072012000200018
- Álvarez-Lueje, A., Valenzuela, C., Squella, J. A., & Núñez-Vergara, L. J. (2005). Stability study of simvastatin under hydrolytic conditions assessed by liquid chromatography. *Journal of AOAC International, 88*(6), 1631–1636. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/831d/fe7fd2ebe7ce1d642d88ed6f77ffa1065e6f.pd f
- Aragno, M., Brignardello, E., Tamagno, E., Gatto, V., Danni, O., & Boccuzzi, G. (1997). Dehydroepiandrosterone administration prevents the oxidative damage induced by acute hyperglycemia in rats. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 155(2), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1550233

- Ayala, A., Muñoz, M. F., & Argüelles, S. (2014). Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2nonenal. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2014, 360438. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/360438
- Ayas, Z., Ekmekci, G., Ozmen, M., & Yerli, S. V. (2007). Histopathological changes in the livers and kidneys of fish in Sariyar Reservoir, Turkey. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 23(2), 242–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2006.11.003
- Banerjee, S., & Ghosh, J. (2016). Drug Metabolism and Oxidative Stress: Cellular Mechanism and New Therapeutic Insights. *Biochemistry & Analytical Biochemistry*, s3. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-1009.1000255
- Battello, C. (2016). The Antioxidant Effect Orthomolecular in Homeopathy (DIGITALIZA, Ed.). Retrieved from https://www.fnac.pt/livre-numerique/a4247912/The-Antioxidant-Effect-Orthomolecular-in-Homeopathy
- Benson, W. H., Little, E. E., Brewer, S. K. (2010). Neurobehavioral toxicity in fish. In *Target Organ Toxicity in Marine and Freshwater Teleosts* (pp. 139–174). Abingdon, UK:
 Taylor & Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203361412 chapter 4
- Betteridge, D. J. (2000). What is oxidative stress? In *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* (Vol. 49, pp. 3–8). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-0495(00)80077-3
- Blondet, N. M., Messner, D. J., Kowdley, K. V., & Murray, K. F. (2018). Mechanisms of Hepatocyte Detoxification. *Physiology of the Gastrointestinal Tract*, 981–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809954-4.00043-8
- Bogers, R. (2008). *PhD Thesis: Markers of endocrine disruption in fish*. Wageningen University. Retrieved from http://edepot.wur.nl/122056
- Boleda, M. R., Galceran, M. T., & Ventura, F. (2011). Behavior of pharmaceuticals and drugs of abuse in a drinking water treatment plant (DWTP) using combined conventional and ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis (UF/RO) treatments. *Environmental Pollution, 159*(6), 1584–1591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.02.051
- Bouayed, J. (2011). Relationship Between Oxidative Stress and Anxiety: Emerging Role of Antioxidants Within Therapeutic or Preventive Approaches. In *Anxiety Disorders*.

InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/19214

- Boveris, A., Oshino, N., & Chance, B. (1972). The cellular production of hydrogen peroxide. *The Biochemical Journal*, *128*(3), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj1280617
- Boxall, A. B. A. (2004). The environmental side effects of medication. *EMBO Reports*, 5(12), 1110–1116. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400307
- Boyd, G. R., Reemtsma, H., Grimm, D. A., & Mitra, S. (2003). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in surface and treated waters of Louisiana, USA and Ontario, Canada. *Science of the Total Environment*, *311*(1–3), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(03)00138-4
- Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*, *72*(1–2), 248–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3
- Brewer, S. K., Little, E. E., DeLonay, A. J., Beauvais, S. L., Jones, S. B., & Ellersieck, M. R. (2001). Behavioral dysfunctions correlate to altered physiology in rainbow trout (*Oncorynchus mykiss*) exposed to cholinesterase-inhibiting chemicals. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 40(1), 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002440010149
- Broncel, M., Koter-Michalak, M., & Chojnowska-Jezierska, J. (2006). The effect of statins on lipids peroxidation and activities of antioxidants enzymes in patients with dyslipidemia. *Przegląd Lekarski*, 63(9), 738–742. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17479860
- Brown-Peterson, N. J., Wyanski, D. M., Saborido-Rey, F., Macewicz, B. J., & Lowerre-Barbieri, S. K. (2011). A standardized terminology for describing reproductive development in fishes. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries*, 3(1), 52–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/19425120.2011.555724
- Buege, J. A., & Aust, S. D. (1978). Microsomal Lipid Peroxidation. *Methods in Enzymology*, 52(C), 302–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(78)52032-6
- Burgess, H. A., & Granato, M. (2007). Modulation of locomotor activity in larval zebrafish during light adaptation. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *210*(14), 2526–2539.

https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.003939

- Buser, H. R., Müller, M. D., & Theobald, N. (1998). Occurrence of the pharmaceutical drug clofibric acid and the herbicide mecoprop in various Swiss Lakes and in the North Sea. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 32(1), 188–192. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9705811
- Bustan, A. A., Jawad, A. M., & Zagidullin, N. (2017). The Effect of Two Types of Statins (Rosuvastatin and Atorvastatin) on the Fertility of Male and Female Mice. *British Journal of Medicine & Medical Research, 19*(12), 31150. https://doi.org/10.9734/BJMMR/2017/31150
- Cameron, C. E. (2011). PhD final thesis Effects of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Ligands on the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Gonadal Axis of the Male Goldfish. University of Otawa. Retrieved from https://ruor.uottawa.ca/bitstream/10393/30137/1/NR79716.PDF
- Campos, L. M., Rios, E. A., Guapyassu, L., Midlej, V., Atella, G. C., Herculano-Houzel, S., ...
 Costa, M. L. (2016). Alterations in zebrafish development induced by simvastatin:
 Comprehensive morphological and physiological study, focusing on muscle. *Experimental Biology and Medicine, 241*(17), 1950–1960.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370216659944
- Campos, L. M., Rios, E. A., Midlej, V., Atella, G. C., Herculano-Houzel, S., Benchimol, M., Mermelstein, C., Costa, M. L. (2015). Structural Analysis of Alterations in Zebrafish Muscle Differentiation Induced by Simvastatin and Their Recovery with Cholesterol. *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, 63(6), 427–437. https://doi.org/10.1369/0022155415580396
- Canesi, L., Lorusso, L. C., Ciacci, C., Betti, M., Regoli, F., Poiana, G., Gallo, G., Marcomini, A. (2007). Effects of blood lipid lowering pharmaceuticals (bezafibrate and gemfibrozil) on immune and digestive gland functions of the bivalve mollusc, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. *Chemosphere*, *69*(6), 994–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.04.085
- Carnevali, O., Santangeli, S., Forner-Piquer, I., Basili, D., & Maradonna, F. (2018). Endocrine-disrupting chemicals in aquatic environment: what are the risks for fish

gametes? Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44(6), 1561–1576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-018-0507-z

- Castell, J. V., Gómez-Lechón, M. J., Ponsoda, X., & Bort, R. (1997). In vitro investigation of the molecular mechanisms of hepatotoxicity. *Archives of Toxicology. Supplement. = Archiv Für Toxikologie. Supplement*. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-4274(96)80065-8
- Cohen, G., & Hochstein, P. (1963). Glutathione Peroxidase: The Primary Agent for the Elimination of Hydrogen Peroxide in Erythrocytes. *Biochemistry*, *2*(6), 1420–1428. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00906a038
- Coimbra, A. M., Peixoto, M. J., Coelho, I., Lacerda, R., Carvalho, A. P., Gesto, M., Lyssimachou, A., Lima, D., Soares, J., André, A., Capitão, A. Castro, L. F. C. & Santos, M. M. (2015). Chronic effects of clofibric acid in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*): A multigenerational study. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 160, 76–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.01.013
- Collier, A. D., Kalueff, A. V., & Echevarria, D. J. (2017). Zebrafish models of anxiety-like behaviors. In A. V. Kalueff (Ed.), *The Rights and Wrongs of Zebrafish: Behavioral Phenotyping of Zebrafish* (pp. 45–72). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-33774-6_3
- Committee on Biological Markers of the National Research Council. (1987). Biological Markers in Environmental Health Research. Environmental Health Perspectives (Vol. 74). The National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences. https://doi.org/10.2307/3430428
- Corcoran, J., Winter, M. J., Lange, A., Cumming, R., Owen, S. F., & Tyler, C. R. (2015). Effects of the lipid regulating drug clofibric acid on PPARα-regulated gene transcript levels in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) at pharmacological and environmental exposure levels. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *161*, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUATOX.2015.01.033
- Couto, N., Wood, J., & Barber, J. (2016). The role of glutathione reductase and related enzymes on cellular redox homoeostasis network. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.02.028

- Crusselle-Davis, V. J., & Archer, T. K. (2010). Chromatin Remodeling. In *Comprehensive Toxicology: Second Edition* (Vol. 2–14, pp. 359–375). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-046884-6.00220-7
- Cunha, V., Santos, M. M., Moradas-Ferreira, P., & Ferreira, M. (2016). Simvastatin effects on detoxification mechanisms in *Danio rerio* embryos. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *23*(11), 10615–10629. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-6547-y
- Dahl, U., Gorokhova, E., & Breitholtz, M. (2006). Application of growth-related sublethal endpoints in ecotoxicological assessments using a harpacticoid copepod. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 77(4), 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.01.014
- Dahm, R. (2006). The Zebrafish Exposed: "See-through" mutants may hold the key to unraveling the mysteries of embryonic development. *American Scientist*. Sigma Xi, The Scientific Research Honor Society. https://doi.org/10.2307/27858837
- Dasgupta, A., & Klein, K. (2014). Methods for Measuring Oxidative Stress in the Laboratory. In *Antioxidants in Food, Vitamins and Supplements* (pp. 19–40). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-405872-9.00002-1
- Daughton, C. G., & Ternes, T. A. (1999). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: Agents of subtle change? *Environmental Health Perspectives*.
 Public Health Services, US Dept of Health and Human Services. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.99107s6907
- Davidson, M. H. (2009). Combination Therapy for Dyslipidemia. In *Clinical Lipidology: A Companion to Braunwald's Heart Disease* (pp. 352–362). W.B. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-141605469-6.50033-0

De Carvalho, T. S., Cardoso, P. B., Santos-Silva, M., Lima-Bastos, S., Luz, W. L., Assad, N., Kauffmann, N., Passos, A., Brasil, A., Pacheco, C., Moraes, S., Gouveia, A., De Jesus, E. O. B., Oliveira, K. R. M. H., Herculano, A. M. (2019). Oxidative Stress Mediates Anxiety-Like Behavior Induced by High Caffeine Intake in Zebrafish: Protective Effect of Alpha-Tocopherol. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2019.* https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8419810
De Sotomayor, M. Á., Pérez-Guerrero, C., Herrrera, M. D., Jimenez, L., Marín, R., Marhuenda, E., & Andriantsitohaina, R. (2005). Improvement of age-related endothelial dysfunction by simvastatin: Effect on NO and COX pathways. *British*
Journal of Pharmacology, *146*(8), 1130–1138. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0706420

- Delbosc, S., Morena, M., Djouad, F., Ledoucen, C., Descomps, B., & Cristol, J. P. (2002).
 Statins, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors, are able to reduce superoxide anion production by NADPH oxidase in THP-1-derived monocytes.
 Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology, 40(4), 611–617.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00005344-200210000-00015
- Devlin, R. H., & Nagahama, Y. (2002). Sex determination and sex differentiation in fish: An overview of genetic, physiological, and environmental influences. Aquaculture. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(02)00057-1
- Dhaunsi, G. S., Singh, I., Orak, J. K., & Singh, A. K. (1994). Antioxidant enzymes in ciprofibrate-induced oxidative stress. *Carcinogenesis*, 15(9), 1923–1930. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/15.9.1923
- Diamond, J. M., Parson, M. J., & Gruber, D. (1990). Rapid detection of sublethal toxicity using fish ventilatory behavior. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *9*(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620090102
- Dinka, D. D. (2018). Environmental Xenobiotics and Their Adverse Health Impacts-A General Review. *Journal of Environment Pollution and Human Health, Vol. 6, 2018, Pages 77-88, 6*(3), 77–88. https://doi.org/10.12691/JEPHH-6-3-1
- Djordjević, V. B. (2004). Free radicals in cell biology. *International Review of Cytology*, 237, 57–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(04)37002-6
- Dooley, K., & Zon, L. I. (2000). Zebrafish: a model system for the study of human disease. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development*, *10*(3), 252–256. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959437X00000745
- Dzoyem, J. P., Kuete, V., & Eloff, J. N. (2014). Biochemical Parameters in Toxicological Studies in Africa: Significance, Principle of Methods, Data Interpretation, and Use in Plant Screenings. In *Toxicological Survey of African Medicinal Plants* (pp. 659–715). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800018-2.00023-6
- Eimon, P. M., & Ashkenazi, A. (2010). The zebrafish as a model organism for the study of apoptosis. *Apoptosis*. Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public

Health, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-009-0432-9

- Ellesat, K. S., Tollefsen, K. E., Åsberg, A., Thomas, K. V., & Hylland, K. (2010). Cytotoxicity of atorvastatin and simvastatin on primary rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) hepatocytes. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 24(6), 1610–1618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2010.06.006
- Embrandiri, A., Katheem Kiyasudeen, S., Rupani, P. F., & Ibrahim, M. H. (2016).
 Environmental xenobiotics and its effects on natural ecosystem. In *Plant Responses* to Xenobiotics (pp. 1–18). Singapore: Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2860-1_1
- Federici, G., Shaw, B. J., & Handy, R. D. (2007). Toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): Gill injury, oxidative stress, and other physiological effects. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 84(4), 415–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2007.07.009
- Fleming, A., Diekmann, H., & Goldsmith, P. (2013). Functional Characterisation of the Maturation of the Blood-Brain Barrier in Larval Zebrafish. *PLoS ONE*, 8(10), e77548. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077548
- Flohé, L. (1985). The Glutathione Peroxidase Reaction: Molecular Basis of the Antioxidant Function of Selenium in Mammals. *Current Topics in Cellular Regulation*, 27, 473– 478. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-152827-0.50047-5
- Flohé, L, & Ötting, F. (1984). Superoxide Dismutase Assays. *Methods in Enzymology*, *105*(C), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(84)05013-8
- Flohé, Leopold, & Günzler, W. A. (1984). Assays of Glutathione Peroxidase. *Methods in Enzymology*, 105(C), 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(84)05015-1
- Fong, C. W. (2014). Statins in therapy: Understanding their hydrophilicity, lipophilicity, binding to 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase, ability to cross the blood brain barrier and metabolic stability based on electrostatic molecular orbital studies. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 85, 661–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.08.037

Gazouli, M., Yao, Z. X., Boujrad, N., Christopher Corton, J., Culty, M., & Papadopoulos, V.

(2002). Effect of peroxisome proliferators on Leydig cell peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor gene expression, hormone-stimulated cholesterol transport, and steroidogenesis: Role of the peroxisome proliferator-activator receptor α . *Endocrinology*, 143(7), 2571–2583. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.143.7.8895

- Germershausen, J. I., Hunt, V. M., Bostedor, R. G., Bailey, P. J., Karkas, J. D., & Alberts, A. W. (1989). Tissue selectivity of the cholesterol-lowering agents lovastatin, simvastatin and pravastatin in rats in vivo. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 158(3), 667–675. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2493245
- Goel, S. K., Lalwani, N. D., & Reddy, J. K. (1986). Peroxisome proliferation and lipid peroxidation in rat liver. *Cancer Research*, *46*(3), 1324–1330.
- Golbidi, S., Alireza Ebadi, S., & Laher, I. (2011). Antioxidants in the Treatment of Diabetes. *Current Diabetes Reviews*, 7(2), 106–125. https://doi.org/10.2174/157339911794940729
- Gracia-Lor, E., Sancho, J. V, Serrano, R., & Hernández, F. (2012). Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals in wastewater treatment plants at the Spanish Mediterranean area of Valencia. *Chemosphere*, *87*(5), 453–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.12.025
- Grue, C., Gardner, S., P, G., & Dell Omo, G. (2002). *Behavioural Ecotoxicology*. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.10.013
- Habig, W. H., Pabst, M. J., & Jakoby, W. B. (1974). Glutathione S transferases. The first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 249(22), 7130–7139. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4436300
- Halliwell, B. (2009). Free Radicals and Antioxidants: A Personal View. *Nutrition Reviews*, *52*(8), 253–265. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.1994.tb01453.x
- Handy, R. D., Sims, D. W., Giles, A., Campbell, H. A., & Musonda, M. M. (1999). Metabolic trade-off between locomotion and detoxification for maintenance of blood chemistry and growth parameters by rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) during

chronic dietary exposure to copper. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 47(1), 23–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(99)00004-1

- Hassan, W., Barroso Silva, C., Mohammadzai, I. U., Teixeira da Rocha, J., & Landeira-Fernandez, J. (2014). Association of Oxidative Stress to the Genesis of Anxiety: Implications for Possible Therapeutic Interventions. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 12(2), 120–139. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159x11666131120232135
- Hayyan, M., Hashim, M. A., & AlNashef, I. M. (2016). Superoxide Ion: Generation and Chemical Implications. *Chemical Reviews*, *116*(5), 3029–3085. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00407
- Heberer, T., Fuhrmann, B., Schmidt-Baumler, K., Tsipi, D., Koutsouba, V., & Hiskia, A. (2001). Occurrence of pharmaceutical residues in sewage, river, ground, and drinking water in Greece and Berlin (Germany). ACS Symposium Series, 791, 70–83. https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2001-0791.ch004
- Henriques, J. F., Almeida, A. R., Andrade, T., Koba, O., Golovko, O., Soares, A. M. V. M., Oliveira, M. & Domingues, I. (2016). Effects of the lipid regulator drug gemfibrozil: A toxicological and behavioral perspective. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *170*, 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.09.017
- Henschel, K. P., Wenzel, A., Diedrich, M., & Fliedner, A. (1997). Environmental hazard assessment of pharmaceuticals. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 25(3), 220–225. https://doi.org/10.1006/rtph.1997.1102
- Hignite, C., & Azarnoff, D. L. (1977). Drugs and drug metabolites as environmental contaminants: Chlorophenoxyisobutyrate and salicylic acid in sewage water effluent. *Life Sciences*, 20(2), 337–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(77)90329-0
- Hill, A. J., Teraoka, H., Heideman, W., & Peterson, R. E. (2005). Zebrafish as a model vertebrate for investigating chemical toxicity. *Toxicological Sciences*. Narnia. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi110
- Hirsch, R., Ternes, T. A., Haberer, K., & Kratz, K. L. (1996). Determination of Betablockers and Sympathomimetrics in the Aquatic Environment. *Vom Wasser*, (87), 263–274.
- Holth, T. F., Nourizadeh-Lillabadi, R., Blaesbjerg, M., Grung, M., Holbech, H., Petersen, G. I., Aleström, P. & Hylland, K. (2008). Differential gene expression and biomarkers in

zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) following exposure to produced water components. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *90*(4), 277–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUATOX.2008.08.020

- Huang, J. C. (2008). The role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors in the development and physiology of gametes and preimplantation embryos. PPAR Research. Hindawi Limited. https://doi.org/10.1155/2008/732303
- Ibabe, A., Bilbao, E., & Cajaraville, M. P. (2005). Expression of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) depending on gender and developmental stage. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*, 123(1), 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00418-004-0737-2
- Infarmed I.P. (2013). Estatinas. Sumário Executivo. Gabinete de Informação e Planeamento Estratégico.
- Isidori, M., Bellotta, M., Cangiano, M., & Parrella, A. (2009). Estrogenic activity of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. *Environment International*, 35(5), 826– 829. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2008.11.006
- Jelic, A., Gros, M., Ginebreda, A., Cespedes-Sánchez, R., Ventura, F., Petrovic, M., & Barcelo, D. (2011). Occurrence, partition and removal of pharmaceuticals in sewage water and sludge during wastewater treatment. *Water Research*, 45(3), 1165–1176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.11.010
- Jones, G. L., & Neill, A. R. (1982). The effects of clofibrate and 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole on liver catalase and lipid metabolism in mice. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Lipids and Lipid Metabolism, 712*(2), 420–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2760(82)90362-9
- Jones, O. A., Lester, J. N., & Voulvoulis, N. (2005). Pharmaceuticals: A threat to drinking water? *Trends in Biotechnology*, 23(4), 163–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2005.02.001
- Kaminsky, Y., Suslikov, A., & Kosenko, E. (2010). Specific and pronounced impacts of lisinopril and lisinopril plus simvastatin on erythrocyte antioxidant enzymes. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 50(2), 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270009344854

Kane, A., Salierno, J., & Brewer, S. (2005). Fish models in behavioral toxicology. In

79

Techniques in Aquatic Toxicology, Volume 2 (pp. 559–590). Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203501597.ch32

- Kasprzyk-Hordern, B., Dinsdale, R. M., & Guwy, A. J. (2009). The removal of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, endocrine disruptors and illicit drugs during wastewater treatment and its impact on the quality of receiving waters. *Water Research*, 43(2), 363–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2008.10.047
- Kawashima, Y., Katoh, H., Watanuki, H., Takegishi, M., & Kozuka, H. (1985). Effects of long-term administration of clofibric acid on peroxisomal β-oxidation, fatty acidbinding protein and cytosolic long-chain acyl-CoA hydrolases in rat liver. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 34(3), 325–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(85)90039-5
- Kim, I. Y., Kim, M. K., Yoon, Y., Im, J. K., & Zoh, K. D. (2014). Kinetics and degradation mechanism of clofibric acid and diclofenac in UV photolysis and UV/H2O2reaction. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 52(31–33), 6211–6218. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2013.817507
- Kim, K., Kang, J., Kim, D., Park, S., Park, S. H., Kim, D., Deok Park, K., Lee, Y. J., Jung, H.-C., Pan, J.-G., Ahn, T., Yun, C.-H. (2010). Generation of human chiral metabolites of simvastatin and lovastatin by bascterial cyp102A1 mutants. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 39*(1):140-50. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.110.036392
- Klucis, E., Crane, D., & Masters, C. (1984). Sequential alterations in the micro-localization of catalase in mouse liver after treatment with hypolipidemic drugs. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 65(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00226021
- Komar, C. M. (2005, August 30). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) and ovarian function - Implications for regulating steroidogenesis, differentiation, and tissue remodeling. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*. BioMed Central. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-3-41
- Komar, C. M., Braissant, O., Wahli, W., & Curry, T. E. (2001). Expression and localization of PPARs in the rat ovary during follicular development and the periovulatory period. *Endocrinology*, *142*(11), 4831–4838. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.142.11.8429

Kumar, A., & Xagoraraki, I. (2010). Human health risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in

water: An uncertainty analysis for meprobamate, carbamazepine, and phenytoin. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 57(2–3), 146–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2010.02.002

- Lammer, E., Carr, G. J., Wendler, K., Rawlings, J. M., Belanger, S. E., & Braunbeck, T. (2009). Is the fish embryo toxicity test (FET) with the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) a potential alternative for the fish acute toxicity test? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 149(2), 196–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2008.11.006
- Laurence, G. C. (1972). Comparative swimming abilities of fed and starved larval largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*). *Journal of Fish Biology*, *4*(1), 73–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1972.tb05654.x
- Lauretta, R., Sansone, A., Sansone, M., Romanelli, F., & Appetecchia, M. (2019). Endocrine disrupting chemicals: Effects on endocrine glands. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*. Frontiers. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00178
- Leino, R. L., Jensen, K. M., & Ankley, G. T. (2005). Gonadal histology and characteristic histopathology associated with endocrine disruption in the adult fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*). Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 19(1), 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2004.05.010
- Leite, G. A. A., Rosa, J. de L., Sanabria, M., Cavariani, M. M., Franci, J. A. A., Pinheiro, P. F.
 F., & Kempinas, W. D. G. (2014). Delayed reproductive development in pubertal male rats exposed to the hypolipemiant agent rosuvastatin since prepuberty.
 Reproductive Toxicology, *44*, 93–103.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.01.004
- Levander, O. A. (1992). Selenium and Sulfur in Antioxidant Protective Systems: Relationships with Vitamin E and Malaria (43430). *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, 200*(2), 255–259. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-200-43430
- Liew, W. C., Bartfai, R., Lim, Z., Sreenivasan, R., Siegfried, K. R., & Orban, L. (2012). Polygenic sex determination system in zebrafish. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4), e34397. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034397

81

- Liew, W. C., & Orbán, L. (2014). Zebrafish sex: A complicated affair. *Briefings in Functional Genomics*, *13*(2), 172–187. https://doi.org/10.1093/bfgp/elt041
- Lin, A. Y. C., Wang, X. H., & Lin, C. F. (2010). Impact of wastewaters and hospital effluents on the occurrence of controlled substances in surface waters. *Chemosphere*, 81(5), 562–570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.08.051
- Lin, W. C., Chen, H. C., & Ding, W. H. (2005). Determination of pharmaceutical residues in waters by solid-phase extraction and large-volume on-line derivatization with gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1065(2), 279– 285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2004.12.081
- Lionetto, M. G., Caricato, R., Giordano, M. E., Pascariello, M. F., Marinosci, L., & Schettino, T. (2003). Integrated use of biomarkers (acetylcholinesterase and antioxidant enzymes activities) in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and *Mullus barbatus* in an Italian coastal marine area. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 46(3), 324–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(02)00403-4
- Little, E. E., & Finger, S. E. (1990). Swimming behavior as an indicator of sublethal toxicity in fish. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *9*(1), 13–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620090103
- Livingstone, D. R. (2003). Oxidative stress in aquatic organisms in relation to pollution and aquaculture. *Revue de Medecine Veterinaire*, *154*(6), 427–430. Retrieved from https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Oxidative-Stress-in-Aquatic-Organisms-in-Relation-Livingstone/f06d38361b4dc9b2d7f0e537e94d625ae4fb5735
- Louis, G., & Stoker, T. (2015). Endocrine Disruptors. In *Mammalian Toxicology* (pp. 289– 308). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118683484.ch14
- Lumb, A. B. (2017). Oxygen Toxicity and Hyperoxia. In Nunn's Applied Respiratory Physiology (pp. 341-356.e2). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-7020-6294-0.00024-1
- Lushchak, V. I. (2012). Glutathione Homeostasis and Functions: Potential Targets for Medical Interventions. *Journal of Amino Acids*, 2012, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/736837

Lykkesfeldt, J. (2007). Malondialdehyde as biomarker of oxidative damage to lipids caused

by smoking. *Clinica Chimica Acta*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2007.01.028

- Manibusan, M. K., & Touart, L. W. (2017). A comprehensive review of regulatory test methods for endocrine adverse health effects. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408444.2016.1272095
- Mannervik, B., & Guthenberg, C. (1981). Glutathione Transferase (Human Placenta). Methods in Enzymology, 77(C), 231–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(81)77030-7
- Martín, J., Buchberger, W., Alonso, E., Himmelsbach, M., & Aparicio, I. (2011). Comparison of different extraction methods for the determination of statin drugs in wastewater and river water by HPLC/Q-TOF-MS. *Talanta*, *85*(1), 607–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2011.04.017
- Martins, S., Monteiro, J. F., Vito, M., Weintraub, D., Almeida, J., & Certal, A. C. (2016).
 Toward an Integrated Zebrafish Health Management Program Supporting Cancer and
 Neuroscience Research. *Zebrafish*, *13*(S1), S47–S55.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/zeb.2015.1198
- Matalka, I. I., Mhaidat, N. M., & Fatlawi, L. A. (2013). Antioxidant activity of simvastatin prevents L-arginine-induced acute toxicity of pancreas. *International Journal of Physiology, Pathophysiology and Pharmacology, 5*(2), 102–108. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23750308
- Maximino, C., Marques De Brito, T., De Mattos Dias, C. A. G., Gouveia, A., & Morato, S. (2010). Scototaxis as anxiety-like behavior in fish. *Nature Protocols*, 5(2), 221–228. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.225
- McAvoy, D. C., Schatowitz, B., Jacob, M., Hauk, A., & Eckhoff, W. S. (2002). Measurement of triclosan in wastewater treatment systems. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *21*(7), 1323–1329. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620210701
- McEwen, B. S. (2016). Central Role of the Brain in Stress and Adaptation: Allostasis,
 Biological Embedding, and Cumulative Change. In Stress: Concepts, Cognition,
 Emotion, and Behavior: Handbook of Stress (pp. 39–55). Elsevier.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800951-2.00005-4

McFarland, A. J., Anoopkumar-Dukie, S., Arora, D. S., Grant, G. D., McDermott, C. M.,

Perkins, A. V, & Davey, A. K. (2014). Molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of statins in the central nervous system. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute (MDPI). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms151120607

- Meena, S. N., & Naik, M. M. (2019). Advances in biological science research : a practical approach. Retrieved from https://books.google.pt/books?id=YQKZDwAAQBAJ&pg=PA292&lpg=PA292&dq=Oxi dative+damage+is+one+result+of+such+an+imbalance+and+includes+oxidative+mod ification+of+cellular+macromolecules,+induction+of+cell+death+by+apoptosis+or+n ecrosis,+as+well+as+structural
- Mennes, W. C., Wortelboer, H. M., Hassing, G. A. M., van Sandwijk, K., Timmerman, A., Schmid, B. P., Jahn, U., & Blaauboer, B. J. (1994). Effects of clofibric and beclobric acid in rat and monkey hepatocyte primary culture: influence on peroxisomal and mitochondrial β-oxidation and the activity of catalase, glutathione S-transferase and glutathione peroxidase. *Archives of Toxicology*, *68*(8), 506–511. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002040050103
- Metcalfe, C. D., Miao, X. S., Koenig, B. G., & Struger, J. (2003). Distribution of acidic and neutral drugs in surface waters near sewage treatment plants in the lower Great Lakes, Canada. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 22(12), 2881–2889. https://doi.org/10.1897/02-627
- Miao, X. S., Koenig, B. G., & Metcalfe, C. D. (2002). Analysis of acidic drugs in the effluents of sewage treatment plants using liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 952(1–2), 139–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(02)00088-2
- Michalik, L., Auwerx, J., Berger, J. P., Chatterjee, V. K., Glass, C. K., Gonzalez, F. J., Grimaldi, P. A., Kadowaki, T., Lazar, M. A., O'Rahilly, S., Palmer, C. N. A., Plutzky, J., Reddy, J. K., Spiegelman, B. M., Staels, B., & Wahli, W. (2006). Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 58(4), 726–741. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.58.4.5

Miller, D., Lang, W., Greaves, J., & Wilson, R. (2009). Investigations in Aquatic Behavioral

Toxicology Using a Computerized Video Quantification System. In *Aquatic Toxicology and Hazard Assessment* (pp. 206-206–215). 100 Barr Harbor Drive, PO Box C700, West Conshohocken, PA 19428-2959: ASTM International. https://doi.org/10.1520/stp36720s

- Mimeault, C., Trudeau, V. L., & Moon, T. W. (2006). Waterborne gemfibrozil challenges the hepatic antioxidant defense system and down-regulates peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor beta (PPARβ) mRNA levels in male goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *Toxicology*, 228(2–3), 140–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2006.08.025
- Mnif, W., Hassine, A. I. H., Bouaziz, A., Bartegi, A., Thomas, O., & Roig, B. (2011). Effect of endocrine disruptor pesticides: A review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph8062265
- Modesto, K. A., & Martinez, C. B. R. (2010). Roundup[®] causes oxidative stress in liver and inhibits acetylcholinesterase in muscle and brain of the fish *Prochilodus lineatus*. *Chemosphere*, *78*(3), 294–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.10.047
- Mohamadin, A. M., Elberry, A. A., Gawad, H. S. A., Morsy, G. M., & Al-Abbasi, F. A. (2011).
 Protective effects of simvastatin, an HMGCoA reductase inhibitor, against oxidative damage in experimental diabetic rats. *International Journal of PharmTech Research*, 3(3), 1780–1795. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/f0db/6c1750c91a81f67f50a8ec750ecc932860e2.p df
- Monat-Descamps, C., & Deschamps, F. (2012). Nervous system disorders induced by occupational and environmental toxic exposure. *Open Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *02*(03), 272–278. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojpm.2012.23039
- Moser, V. C. (2010). Behavioral Screening for Toxicology. In *Comprehensive Toxicology, Second Edition* (Vol. 13, pp. 337–350). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-046884-6.01320-8
- Murphy, L. R., Kinsey, S. T., & Durako, M. J. (2003). Physiological effects of short-term salinity changes on Ruppia maritima. *Aquatic Botany*, 75(4), 293–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3770(02)00206-1

Nagahama, Y., Yoshikuni, M., Yamashita, M., Tokumoto, T., & Katsu, Y. (1995). Regulation

of Oocyte Growth and Maturation in Fish. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, 30(C), 103–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0070-2153(08)60565-7

- Neuparth, T., Martins, C., Santos, C. B. d. los, Costa, M. H., Martins, I., Costa, P. M., & Santos, M. M. (2014). Hypocholesterolaemic pharmaceutical simvastatin disrupts reproduction and population growth of the amphipod *Gammarus locusta* at the ng/L range. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 155, 337–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.07.009
- Nihat Ozaydin, F. (2017). Xenobiotics and Chronic Disease. *Open Access Journal of Toxicology*, 1(4). https://doi.org/10.19080/OAJT.2017.01.555570
- Nikolaou, A., Meric, S., & Fatta, D. (2007). Occurrence patterns of pharmaceuticals in water and wastewater environments. In *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* (Vol. 387, pp. 1225–1234). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-006-1035-8
- Nunes, B., Carvalho, F., & Guilhermino, L. (2004). Acute and chronic effects of clofibrate and clofibric acid on the enzymes acetylcholinesterase, lactate dehydrogenase and catalase of the mosquitofish, *Gambusia holbrooki*. *Chemosphere*, *57*(11), 1581–1589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.09.018
- Nunes, B., Carvalho, F., & Guilhermino, L. (2006). Effects of widely used pharmaceuticals and a detergent on oxidative stress biomarkers of the crustacean Artemia parthenogenetica. Chemosphere, 62(4), 581–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.06.013
- Nunes, B., Gaio, A. R., Carvalho, F., & Guilhermino, L. (2008). Behaviour and biomarkers of oxidative stress in *Gambusia holbrooki* after acute exposure to widely used pharmaceuticals and a detergent. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 71(2), 341–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2007.12.006
- O'Brien, M. L., Cunningham, M. L., Spear, B. T., & Glauert, H. P. (2001). Effects of Peroxisome Proliferators on Glutathione and Glutathione-Related Enzymes in Rats and Hamsters. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, *171*(1), 27–37. Retrieved from https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0041008X00991117
- OECD. (1984). Test No. 204: Fish, Prolonged Toxicity Test: 14-Day Study. OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals. Paris, France

- OECD. (1992). Test No. 210: Fish, Early-Life Stage Toxicity Test. OECD Guidelines for the *Testing of Chemicals*. Paris, France. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264070103-en
- OECD. (2011). Test No. 234: Fish Sexual Development Test. OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals. Paris, France
- OECD. (2013). Test No. 236: Fish Embryo Acute Toxicity (FET) Test. OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals. Paris, France

https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264203709-en

- OECD. (2015). Test No. 240: Medaka Extended One Generation Reproduction Test (MEOGRT). OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals. Paris, France https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264242258-en
- Ojemaye, C. Y., & Petrik, L. (2019). Occurrences, levels and risk assessment studies of emerging pollutants (pharmaceuticals, perfluoroalkyl and endocrine disrupting compounds) in fish samples from Kalk Bay harbour, South Africa. *Environmental Pollution*, 252, 562–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.05.091
- Okuthe, G. E., Hanrahan, S., & Fabian, B. C. (2014). Early gonad development in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *13*(33), 3433–3442. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajb2014.13679
- Omar, W. A., & Mahmoud, H. M. (2017). Risk assessment of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and trace metals in River Nile up- and downstream of a densely populated area. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, *39*(1), 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-016-9814-4
- Orton, T. C., & Parker, G. L. (1982). The effect of hypolipidemic agents on the hepatic microsomal drug-metabolizing enzyme system of the rat. Induction of cytochrome(s)
 P-450 with specificity toward terminal hydroxylation of lauric acid., *10*(2), 110–115.
 Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6124394

Owen, S. F., Huggett, D. B., Hutchinson, T. H., Hetheridge, M. J., McCormack, P., Kinter, L. B., Ericson, J., Constantine, L. A. Sumpter, J. P. (2010). The value of repeating studies and multiple controls: Replicated 28-day growth studies of rainbow trout exposed to clofibric acid. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *29*(12), 2831–2839. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.351

Packer, J. L., Werner, J. J., Latch, D. E., McNeill, K., & Arnold, W. A. (2003). Photochemical

fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment: Naproxen, diclofenac, clofibric acid, and

ibuprofen. *Aquatic Sciences*, 65(4), 342–351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-003-0671-8

- Papageorgiou, M., Kosma, C., & Lambropoulou, D. (2016). Seasonal occurrence, removal, mass loading and environmental risk assessment of 55 pharmaceuticals and personal care products in a municipal wastewater treatment plant in Central Greece. *Science of the Total Environment, 543,* 547–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.11.047
- Park, H. S., Jang, J. E., Ko, M. S., Woo, S. H., Kim, B. J., Kim, H. S., Park, H. S., Park, I. S., Koh,
 E. H., Lee, K. U. (2016). Statins increase mitochondrial and peroxisomal fatty acid oxidation in the liver and prevent non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in mice. *Diabetes and Metabolism Journal*, 40(5), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.4093/dmj.2016.40.5.376
- Pasha, R., & Moon, T. W. (2017). Coenzyme Q10 protects against statin-induced myotoxicity in zebrafish larvae (*Danio rerio*). *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 52, 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2017.03.021
- Pereira, A. M. P. T., Silva, L. J. G., Meisel, L. M., Lino, C. M., & Pena, A. (2015). Environmental impact of pharmaceuticals from Portuguese wastewaters: Geographical and seasonal occurrence, removal and risk assessment. *Environmental Research*, 136, 108–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.09.041
- Perevoshchikova, I. V., Quinlan, C. L., Orr, A. L., Gerencser, A. A., & Brand, M. D. (2013). Sites of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production during fatty acid oxidation in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *61*, 298–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.04.006
- Piechota-Polanczyk, A., Goraca, A., Demyanets, S., Mittlboeck, M., Domenig, C., Neumayer, C., Wojta, J., Nanobachvili, J., Huk, I., Klinger, M. (2012). Simvastatin Decreases Free Radicals Formation in the Human Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Wall via NF-κB. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, 44(2), 133–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJVS.2012.04.020
- Pigeolet, E., Corbisier, P., Houbion, A., Lambert, D., Michiels, C., Raes, M., Zachary, M.-D., Remacle, J. (1990). Glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase, and catalase inactivation by peroxides and oxygen derived free radicals. *Mechanisms of Ageing*

and Development, 51(3), 283–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-6374(90)90078-T

- Pradhan, A., & Olsson, P.-E. (2016). Regulation of zebrafish gonadal sex differentiation. *AIMS Molecular Science*, *3*(4), 567–584. https://doi.org/10.3934/molsci.2016.4.567
- Prieto Garcia, F., Cortés Ascencio, S. Y., Oyarzun, J. C. G., Hernandez, A. C., & Alavarado, P.
 V. (2012). Pesticides: classification, uses and toxicity. Measures of exposure and genotoxic risks. *Journal of Research in Environmental Science and Toxicology*, 1(11), 2315–5698. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/225e/6c4ebada0757fc67ef46d06a2347dec00335.p df
- Prokop'eva, N. V., & Gulyaeva, L. F. (2000). Glutathione S-transferase activity in the liver in acute pancreatitis at various terms of disease and during treatment with inducers. *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine, 129*(5), 458–459. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02439801
- Prueksaritanont, T., Subramanian, R., Fang, X., Ma, B., Qiu, Y., Lin, J. H., Pearson, P. G., Baillie, T. A. (2002). Glucuronidation of statins in animals and humans: A novel mechanism of statin lactonization. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, *30*(5), 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.30.5.505
- Qu, B., Li, Q. T., Wong, K. P., Tan, T. M., & Halliwell, B. (2001). Mechanism of clofibrate hepatotoxicity: Mitochondrial damage and oxidative stress in hepatocytes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *31*(5), 659–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5849(01)00632-3
- Rahman, K. (2007). Studies on free radicals, antioxidants, and co-factors. Clinical Interventions in Aging. Dove Press. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18044138
- Raldúa, D., Michèle, A., & Babin, P. J. (2008). Clofibrate and gemfibrozil induce an embryonic malabsorption syndrome in zebrafish. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 228(3), 301–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2007.11.016
- Rang, H. P., Ritter, J. M., Flower, R. J., & Henderson, G. (2007). Rang and Dale's pharmacology. Churchill Livingstone, Philadelphia.

Ray, P. D., Huang, B. W., & Tsuji, Y. (2012). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) homeostasis

and redox regulation in cellular signaling. *Cellular Signalling*. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2012.01.008

- Reineke, W., & Knackmuss, H. J. (1988). Microbial Degradation of Haloaromatics. Annual Review of Microbiology, 42(1), 263–287. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.mi.42.100188.001403
- Research and Markets. (2018). Hyperlipidemia Drugs Market Analysis Report by Drug Class (Statins, PCSK9 Inhibitors, Bile Acid Sequestrants, Cholesterol Absorption Inhibitors, Fibric Acid Derivatives, Combination), and Segment Forecasts, 2016 - 2022. Dublin.
- Ribeiro, S., Torres, T., Martins, R., & Santos, M. M. (2015). Toxicity screening of diclofenac, propranolol, sertraline and simvastatin using *Danio rerio* and *Paracentrotus lividus* embryo bioassays. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 114, 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.01.008
- Richardson, B. J., Lam, P. K. S., & Martin, M. (2005). Emerging chemicals of concern: Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in Asia, with particular reference to Southern China. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 50(9), 913–920. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2005.06.034
- Roberts, P. H., & Thomas, K. V. (2006). The occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluent and surface waters of the lower Tyne catchment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 356(1–3), 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.04.031
- Runnalls, T. J., Hala, D. N., & Sumpter, J. P. (2007). Preliminary studies into the effects of the human pharmaceutical Clofibric acid on sperm parameters in adult *Fathead minnow*. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *84*(1), 111–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2007.06.005
- Salgado, R., Noronha, J. P., Oehmen, A., Carvalho, G., & Reis, M. A. M. (2010). Analysis of 65 pharmaceuticals and personal care products in 5 wastewater treatment plants in Portugal using a simplified analytical methodology. *Water Science and Technology*, 62(12), 2862–2871. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.985

Salgado, R., Oehmen, A., Carvalho, G., Noronha, J. P., & Reis, M. A. M. (2012).

Biodegradation of clofibric acid and identification of its metabolites. Journal ofHazardousMaterials,241–242,182–189.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.09.029

- Santos, M. M., Ruivo, R., Lopes-Marques, M., Torres, T., de los Santos, C. B., Castro, L. F.
 C., & Neuparth, T. (2016). Statins: An undesirable class of aquatic contaminants?
 Aquatic Toxicology, 174, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2016.02.001
- Sawant, S., & Barge, V. (2014). A validated stability indicating RP-HPLC method for valganciclovir, identification and characterization of forced degradation products of valganciclovir using LC-MS/MS. Acta Chromatographica, 26(1), 29–42. https://doi.org/10.1556/AChrom.26.2014.1.4
- Schieber, M., & Chandel, N. S. (2014). ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress. *Current Biology*. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.034
- Scholz, S., Fischer, S., Gündel, U., Küster, E., Luckenbach, T., & Voelker, D. (2008). The zebrafish embryo model in environmental risk assessment - Applications beyond acute toxicity testing. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. Springer-Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-008-0018-z
- Schrader, M., & Fahimi, H. D. (2006). Peroxisomes and oxidative stress. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2006.09.006
- Scott, G. R., & Sloman, K. A. (2004). The effects of environmental pollutants on complex fish behaviour: Integrating behavioural and physiological indicators of toxicity. *Aquatic Toxicology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2004.03.016
- Segner, H. (2011). Reproductive and Developmental Toxicity in Fishes. In *Reproductive and Developmental Toxicology* (pp. 1145–1166). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-382032-7.10086-4
- Selman, K., Wallace, R. A., Sarka, A., & Qi, X. (1993). Stages of oocyte development in the zebrafish, *Brachydanio rerio*. *Journal of Morphology*, 218(2), 203–224. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1052180209
- Ser, J. R., Roberts, R. B., & Kocher, T. D. (2010). Multiple interacting loci control sex determination in Lake Malawi cichlid fish. *Evolution*, *64*(2), 486–501.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.2009.00871.x

- Shang, E. H. H., Yu, R. M. K., & Wu, R. S. S. (2006). Hypoxia affects sex differentiation and development leading to a male-dominated population in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Environmental Science and Technology*, 40(9), 3118–3122. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0522579
- Sharma, P., Jha, A. B., Dubey, R. S., & Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants under Stressful Conditions. *Journal of Botany*, 2012, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/217037
- Sies, H. (1985). Oxidative Stress: Introductory Remarks. In Oxidative Stress (pp. 1–8). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-642760-8.50005-3
- Singh, J., O'Neill, C., & Handelsman, D. J. (1995). Induction of spermatogenesis by androgens in gonadotropin-deficient (hpg) mice. *Endocrinology*, 136(12), 5311–5321. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.136.12.7588276
- Şişman, T., Incekara, Ü., & Yildiz, Y. Ş. (2008). Determination of acute and early life stage toxicity of fat-plant effluent using zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Environmental Toxicology*, 23(4), 480–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.20366
- Sloman, K. A., & Mcneil, P. L. (2012). Using physiology and behaviour to understand the responses of fish early life stages to toxicants. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 81(7), 2175– 2198. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2012.03435.x
- Smith, E. H., & Bailey, H. C. (1988). Development of a system for continuous biomonitoring of a domestic water source for early warning of contaminants. In D. S. Gruber & J. M. Diamond (Eds.), Automated Biomonitoring: Living Sensors as Environmental Monitors. Chichester, UK: Ellis Harood Publishers Ltd.
- Smith, G. S., Walter, G. L., & Walker, R. M. (2013). Clinical Pathology in Non-Clinical Toxicology Testing. In *Haschek and Rousseaux's Handbook of Toxicologic Pathology* (pp. 565–594). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-415759-0.00018-2
- Speijer, D., Manjeri, G. R., & Szklarczyk, R. (2014). How to deal with oxygen radicals stemming from mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. Royal Society.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0446

- Spence, R., Gerlach, G., Lawrence, C., & Smith, C. (2007). The behaviour and ecology of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *Biological Reviews*, 83(1), 13–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00030.x
- Srinivasa Rao, A., Ahmed, M. F., & Ibrahim, M. (2012). Hepatoprotective activity of melia azedarach leaf extract against simvastatin induced hepatotoxicity in rats. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 2(7), 144–148. https://doi.org/10.7324/JAPS.2012.2721
- Stan, H., & Heberer, T. (1997). Pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. Analysis, (25).
- Steele, C. W. (1983). Effects of exposure to sublethal copper on the locomotor behavior of the sea catfish, Arius felis. Aquatic Toxicology, 4(1), 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-445X(83)90063-2
- Stoll, L. L., McCormick, M. L., Denning, G. M., & Weintraub, N. L. (2004). Antioxidant effects of statins. *Drugs of Today*, 40(12), 975. https://doi.org/10.1358/dot.2004.40.12.872573
- Stroes, E. (2005). Statins and LDL cholesterol lowering: an overview. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, *21*(sup6), S9–S16. https://doi.org/10.1185/030079905X59102
- Strzyzewski, K. W., Pioruńska-Stolzmann, M., Majewski, W., Kasprzak, M., & Strzyzewski, W. (2013). Effect of surgical treatment on lipid peroxidation parameters and antioxidant status in the serum of patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Disease Markers*, 35(6), 647–652. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/530946
- Sui, Q., Huang, J., Deng, S., Chen, W., & Yu, G. (2011). Seasonal variation in the occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in different biological wastewater treatment processes. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 45(8), 3341–3348. https://doi.org/10.1021/es200248d
- Tamburro, A., Robuffo, I., Heipieper, H. J., Allocati, N., Rotilio, D., Ilio, C. Di, & Favaloro, B. (2004). Expression of glutathione S-transferase and peptide methionine sulphoxide reductase in *Ochrobactrum anthropi* is correlated to the production of reactive oxygen species caused by aromatic substrates. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 241(2), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsle.2004.10.013

- Tappel, A. L. (1984). Selenium–Glutathione Peroxidase: Properties and Synthesis. *Current Topics in Cellular Regulation*, 24, 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-152824-9.50015-0
- Ternes, T. A. (1998). Occurrence of drugs in German sewage treatment plants and rivers. *Water Research*, *32*(11), 3245–3260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(98)00099-2
- Tete, V. S., Nyoni, H., Mamba, B. B., & Msagati, T. A. M. (2019). Occurrence and spatial distribution of statins, fibrates and their metabolites in aquatic environments. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2019.08.003
- Tierney, K. B. (2011). Behavioural assessments of neurotoxic effects and neurodegeneration in zebrafish. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1812(3), 381–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.10.011
- Toda, K., Okada, T., Miyaura, C., & Saibara, T. (2003). Fenofibrate, a ligand for PPARα, inhibits aromatase cytochrome P450 expression in the ovary of mouse. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 44(2), 265–270. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M200327-JLR200
- Tsinman, O., Tsinman, K., Sun, N., & Avdeef, A. (2011). Physicochemical selectivity of the BBB microenvironment governing passive diffusion - Matching with a porcine brain lipid extract artificial membrane permeability model. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 28(2), 337–363. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-010-0280-x
- Uchida, D., Yamashita, M., Kitano, T., & Iguchi, T. (2004). An aromatase inhibitor or high water temperature induce oocyte apoptosis and depletion of P450 aromatase activity in the gonads of genetic female zebrafish during sex-reversal. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology A Molecular and Integrative Physiology, 137*(1), 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(03)00178-8
- Ungureanu, D., Filip, C., Artenie, A., & Artenie, R. (2003). Evaluation of simvastatin antioxidant effects. *Revista Medico-Chirurgicala a Societații de Medici și Naturaliști Din Iași, 107*(1), 66–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14755972
- Valavanidis, A., Vlahogianni, T., Dassenakis, M., & Scoullos, M. (2006). Molecular biomarkers of oxidative stress in aquatic organisms in relation to toxic environmental

pollutants. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *64*(2), 178–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2005.03.013

- Vandeputte, M., Dupont-Nivet, M., Chavanne, H., & Chatain, B. (2007). A polygenic hypothesis for sex determination in the European sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax*. *Genetics*, 176(2), 1049–1057. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.107.072140
- Veal, E. A., Mark Toone, W., Jones, N., & Morgan, B. A. (2002). Distinct roles for glutathione S-transferases in the oxidative stress response in Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(38), 35523–35531. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111548200
- Velasco-Santamaría, Y. M., Korsgaard, B., Madsen, S. S., & Bjerregaard, P. (2011).
 Bezafibrate, a lipid-lowering pharmaceutical, as a potential endocrine disruptor in male zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Aquatic Toxicology*, 105(1–2), 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2011.05.018
- Venturini, C. D., Merlo, S., Souto, A. A., Fernandes, M. da C., Gomez, R., & Rhoden, C. R. (2010). Resveratrol and red wine function as antioxidants in the central nervous system without cellular proliferative effects during experimental diabetes. *Oxidative Medicine* and Cellular Longevity, 3(6), 434–441. https://doi.org/10.4161/oxim.3.6.14741
- Vickers, S., Duncan, C. A., Chen, I. W., Rosegay, A., & Duggan, D. E. (1990). Metabolic disposition studies on simvastatin, a cholesterol-lowering prodrug. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 18(2), 138–145. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1971563
- Voss, J. U., Roller, M., Brinkmann, E., & Mangelsdorf, I. (2005). Nephrotoxicity of organic solvents: Biomarkers for early detection. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 78(6), 475–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-005-0611-0
- Walmsley, L. (1985). Pharmacokinetics of bumetanide, lorazepam and clofibric acid in cynomolgus monkeys and baboons. Retrieved from https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Pharmacokinetics-of-bumetanide%2C-lorazepam-and-acid-Walmsley/aa98b48203f198b5e027d588a440ff09dc5089ad

Wang, W.-X. (2016). Bioaccumulation and Biomonitoring. In Marine Ecotoxicology (pp.

99-119). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-803371-5.00004-7

- Wassmann, S., Laufs, U., Bäumer, A. T., Müller, K., Ahlbory, K., Linz, W., Itter, G., Rösen,
 R., Böhm, M., Nickenig, G. (2001). HMG-CoA Reductase Inhibitors Improve
 Endothelial Dysfunction in Normocholesterolemic Hypertension via Reduced
 Production of Reactive Oxygen Species. *Hypertension*, 37(6), 1450–1457.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.37.6.1450
- Yang, J. H., Kostecki, P. T., Calabrese, E. J., & Baldwin, L. A. (1990). Induction of peroxisome proliferation in rainbow trout exposed to ciprofibrate. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 104(3), 476–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008X(90)90169-U
- Yeldandi, A. V, Rao, M. S., & Reddy, J. K. (2000). Hydrogen peroxide generation in peroxisome proliferator-induced oncogenesis. *Mutation Research - Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 448(2), 159–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0027-5107(99)00234-1
- Zar, J. H. (2010). Biostatistical analysis. Prentice-Hall/Pearson. Retrieved from https://epdf.pub/biostatistical-analysis-5theditionb3f7b287483d38bf26e16a605cd207cd67649.html